
 

 

Legislative Council 

Wednesday, 20 February 2008 

                 

THE PRESIDENT (Hon Nick Griffiths) took the chair at 4.00 pm, and read prayers. 

GENETICALLY MODIFIED FREE ZONE — WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
Petition 

HON GRAHAM GIFFARD (North Metropolitan) [4.02 pm]: I present a petition containing 646 signatures, 
couched in the following terms — 

To the President and Members of the Legislative Council of the Parliament of Western Australia in 
Parliament assembled. 

We the undersigned residents of Western Australia say that Genetically Modified (GM) foods (and 
products from GM crops) pose a great risk to human health and the environment and are opposed to 
commercial growing of GM crops and the introduction of GM foods in this State. 

Your petitioners therefore respectfully request the Legislative Council to maintain Western Australia’s 
status as a Genetically Modified Food (and products from GM Crops) free State in perpetuity. 

And your petitioners as in duty bound, will ever pray. 
[See paper 3652.] 

PAPERS TABLED 
Papers were tabled and ordered to lie upon the table of the house. 

JOINT STANDING COMMITTEE ON DELEGATED LEGISLATION 
Addendum to the Twenty-fourth Report — “Town of Claremont Standing Orders Local Law 2007” 

HON RAY HALLIGAN (North Metropolitan) [4.03 pm]: I am directed to present an addendum to the twenty-
fourth report of the Joint Standing Committee on Delegated Legislation in relation to the “Town of Claremont 
Standing Orders Local Law 2007”. I move — 

That the addendum to the report do lie upon the table and be printed. 

Question put and passed. 

[See paper 3653.] 

STANDING COMMITTEE ON ESTIMATES AND FINANCIAL OPERATIONS 
Eleventh Report — “Budget of the Office of the Auditor General” 

HON GIZ WATSON (North Metropolitan) [4.04 pm]: I am directed to present the eleventh report of the 
Standing Committee on Estimates and Financial Operations, “Budget of the Office of the Auditor General”. I 
move — 

That the report do lie upon the table and be printed. 

Question put and passed. 

[See paper 3654.] 

BROADBAND INTERNET — USE OF FUTURE FUND 
Motion 

Resumed from 29 November 2007 on the following motion moved by Hon Vince Catania — 

That this house urges the federal government to support the use of the Future Fund in order to provide 
the necessary public investment in broadband internet access throughout Australia.  

In particular, this house urges the federal government to acknowledge that — 

(a) the urban broadband network is inadequate to meet current or future demands; 

(b) Western Australia’s mining companies, pastoralists, farmers and communities function in 
regions that are as remote from administrative centres as any in the world; 

(c) telehealth capacity would enable quality health services to be delivered via a broadband 
network to areas where such services are currently impossible; and 
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(d) the use of the Future Fund to enable public investment in the national broadband network is a 
valid and essential means of achieving the aims of the fund by investing in Australia’s future 
in commerce, education and health. 

HON BRIAN ELLIS (Agricultural) [4.05 pm]: From memory—it is a while since I commenced my speech on 
this motion—when I spoke previously I pointed out that I agreed with Hon Vince Catania on the importance of 
broadband internet access throughout Australia. We all know that the size of Australia and the remoteness of its 
communities mean that good communication is essential. The best broadband coverage that the government can 
provide is only what the community deserves. It is how the government goes about providing and funding the 
network that is at issue. The member could even encourage his own state government to take the initiative by 
progressing trials with Western Power into the possibility of providing BPL, or broadband over powerlines, as 
was pointed out in Western Power’s BPL strategy review.  

The 2001 Australian Census pointed out that almost seven million people, or about 37 per cent of the Australian 
population, are using the internet for either business or recreation. The Australian Competition and Consumer 
Commission’s quarterly reviews of broadband connections in Australia show that between July 2001 and 
December 2002, growth increased by almost 300 per cent, with the vast majority of services being provided by 
ADSL and cable. These figures, however, show that a relatively small number of internet users had adopted 
broadband as at December 2002. This suggests that there is still scope for other mediums, such as PLC, or power 
line communication, to play a significant role in the provision of broadband access. This suggests also that the 
BPL activities of Western Power can be successful, and that a decent share of the growing market can be 
claimed.  

One of the strengths of delivering broadband over powerlines is that all households and businesses that have an 
electrical outlet are able to access broadband. Also, BPL can be implemented on a targeted cellular basis and can 
be combined with fibre-optic and wireless technology for hybrid broadband access solutions that take advantage 
of existing powerline infrastructure. BPL can also support both voice and data services. BPL also provides the 
potential for value adding, such as surveillance, alarming, meter reading and power monitoring. BPL can also 
provide a network that will be separate from the incumbent telcos, thereby allowing for independence and 
quality in last-mile solutions. These are worthwhile initiatives that need to be investigated. 

In summing up, although I am happy to support that part of the motion that urges the federal government to 
provide the necessary public investment in broadband internet access throughout Australia, I do not believe that 
should be done by the use of the Future Fund. As I pointed out in my previous speech on this motion, once the 
Labor government starts to draw money from the Future Fund, where will it stop? We should not forget the days 
of WA Inc, when whenever a pot of money was available, it was spent. Labor’s record on managing the 
economy does not give me any confidence that there will be any money left in the Future Fund in 2020 to cover 
the superannuation liabilities of federal public servants, which is the very reason the Future Fund was set up. The 
Labor Party should take heed of an article in The Australian of 17 May 2007, which refers to the following 
comment by the chairman of the Future Fund, David Murray — 

Mr Murray said the Future Fund was on track to reach its goal of funding the superannuation liabilities 
of federal public servants by 2020—currently estimated at about $140 billion—if it continued to receive 
the expected federal surpluses. 

But he said any withdrawals from the fund before the 2020 deadline would “change the liquidity profile 
of the fund and therefore change in some way the shape of the portfolio”. 

This country is very wealthy as a result of the Howard government’s good management of the economy; 
therefore, there is no need to draw on the Future Fund to achieve broadband internet access across Australia.  

HON KEN BASTON (Mining and Pastoral) [4.10 pm]: The house last addressed this motion quite a while 
ago. Indeed, Hon Vincent Catania gave notice that he would be moving this motion on 27 March 2007. Of 
course, at that stage the nation was in very different and secure hands. The aim of the motion was to encourage 
the federal government to utilise its Future Fund to install broadband internet access across Australia. We always 
strive to achieve better access to the latest developments. One can always say that better access starts in the city 
centres and then slowly generates outwards. Having lived in remote areas for many years, I have long been 
involved in rural and regional Western Australia. We were always hopeful of getting something better. We did 
get something better, but it happened slowly. The benefits flowed through after first being experienced in the 
cities. I do not have a problem with the desire for better broadband internet access across Australia; however, I 
have a problem with sourcing the money for that better access from the Future Fund. As Hon Brian Ellis stated, 
the Future Fund was established on the premise that no money would be taken from it until 2020 so that 
investments would build up and so that the interest from the fund would provide the capital to invest in 
infrastructure throughout Australia. The Future Fund is a worthwhile cause. It is also self-sufficient. However, if 
the federal government starts eating into the capital before the egg is laid, so to speak, it will defeat the purpose 
of having a future fund. In that sense, it may as well use normal funding measures to achieve broadband internet 
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access across Australia. When the Future Fund was set up, it was decided that money from the fund would not be 
used until 2020 so that it would become self-sufficient and self-perpetuating. Hon Vincent Catania can continue 
to push this motion if he wishes to utilise the money in the Future Fund, but I believe that the Future Fund 
should be utilised to address the many other demands in regional Australia. It has been mentioned that the 
internet can be used to research health issues etc. However, there are many regional health issues. For instance, 
Mt Magnet waged a long battle before its nursing post was upgraded. Indeed, prior to the upgrade, it was 
difficult to wheel a stretcher around the corners of the nursing post and into the main rooms. The nursing post 
used to be the nurses’ quarters. It has been upgraded, but a new nursing post has not been built. Two doctors 
service the Indigenous communities in Wyndham. I believe, however, that the contract of one of those doctors 
has yet to be renewed. We need to ensure that those facilities are upgraded and kept upgraded for usage.  

We could go further and utilise the Future Fund for areas where police stations are being closed down. In 
Gascoyne Junction, we have shut a police station, a school is starting, there is a hotel and the Indigenous 
population is increasing. Only recently there was that tragic accident in the Kennedy Range where everyone had 
to come from Carnarvon instead of Gascoyne Junction. The Future Fund should be utilised for demands on 
infrastructure. All those issues are far more beneficial than upgrading the internet.  

Some of the issues with broadband relate to the cost of it rather than people getting worried about the speed of it. 
There are four ways of delivering broadband. ADSL broadband uses a phone line. I will not go into great detail 
about the ways it can be delivered. We can get it by satellite. I used to get it by satellite when I had my pastoral 
property. It was fantastic to be able to connect to the rest of the world. Of course, it can also be used for 
educational purposes. However, we will always be striving to have better sources. It can be delivered using 
wireless technology or by cable. There is no way in the world it will ever be delivered all over Australia by cable 
but it does happen in certain towns.  

The only thing that disappoints me about this motion is that we are tapping into the Future Fund. I believe that 
we could transfer other wealth directly and not utilise the Future Fund for purposes other than what it is designed 
for. It should be used for basic infrastructure in regional areas throughout Australia to encourage people to 
develop and deliver benefits for the future. 

HON NORMAN MOORE (Mining and Pastoral — Leader of the Opposition) [4.18 pm]: I would like to 
make a few comments on this motion. I am a little surprised that not more government members are participating 
in this debate in view of the fact that the Rudd opposition made a very significant commitment to broadband 
access prior to the last election. Now that the Rudd government has been elected, I guess members do not feel 
the need to argue their case any more. I was surprised that there was not more enthusiasm from government 
members for this motion. Hon Vince Catania moved the motion with the best intentions of his electorate at heart, 
and I support that.  

I want to say a couple of things about communications in Western Australia, particularly in remote parts of 
Western Australia, and also a couple of words about the Future Fund. I suggest that when we vote on this motion 
we might consider dealing with paragraphs (a) to (d) separately. I find myself in agreement with paragraphs (a), 
(b) and (c) but I have a problem with (d). If we were to vote for the motion in its entirety, it would be very 
difficult for me to support the motion because I do not support the use of the Future Fund to achieve these 
purposes but I support the reasons that we want a better broadband network in Australia. I hope we might be able 
to contemplate that when it comes to a vote on the motion. 

As we have heard, the motion is, in effect, redundant because the Rudd government has been elected. One can 
only assume that it will go ahead and carry out the commitments it made prior to the election. We should still 
argue the case—and we will—that any improvement on the broadband network in Australia ought to happen, but 
not by using the Future Fund. My colleagues on this side of the chamber have explained in some detail why the 
Future Fund was set up and what its purpose is, and that it should not be touched until 2020. Its fundamental 
purpose is to ensure that the superannuation liability of federal public servants is fully funded, and that is a very 
laudable proposition. 

The fact that the Rudd opposition, the now Rudd government, determined that it would fund this broadband 
network expansion using the Future Fund caused a great deal of consternation in the minds of people such as me, 
because it gave us the impression at least that the Future Fund could be raided for any purpose that a Rudd 
government thought might be a good idea at the time. Clearly, the Rudd opposition was of the view that 
broadband was a significant issue in the election and in the minds of people to the point that it was prepared to 
make an election commitment to use the Future Fund to fund its scheme. That means that whenever the public 
puts forward a proposal that might require a fair amount of money, the Rudd government might say that there is 
a nice heap of money in the Future Fund and it will grab that, and that will pay for the demands that people 
throughout the community might happen to have. That would be a very unfortunate squandering of the Future 
Fund. 
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Future funds have been set up in many parts of the world by various governments—I think Norway might have 
the most money in its fund, if my memory serves me correctly—whereby the benefits of the current economic 
circumstances, instead of being spent now, are in fact set aside for future circumstances that might result in an 
economic downturn. In this case, there might be the need to fund superannuation liabilities. Therefore, future 
funds are a good idea, but we must be very careful about how they are managed, and they should not be there 
simply as a bucket of money that a government coming into office on the basis of a populist commitment can 
raid. It would be a very sad day if we set up one in Western Australia—which our party has advocated—and then 
found down the track that a new government that came into office just spent the money because it had a bright 
idea to win a few votes. Future funds must be seen as future funds. They are for the future. The fundamental 
rationale behind them is to ensure that the benefits of the good times can be saved up to cover the bad times that 
will inevitably happen in the future. 

At the moment, Western Australia ought to seriously consider a future fund, in my view. We have very buoyant 
economic times. Significant surpluses are being achieved by the government—$2 billion a year for the past 
couple of years. We are told that the royalty stream from iron ore is going to increase by another half a billion 
dollars as a result of price increases for iron ore, albeit I understand that a fair bit of that money will go to the 
other states via the grants commission. However, the state’s coffers are in pretty good shape, and if the 
government tells us that it is getting rid of debt, that is a good thing. However, it also seems to me that the 
government ought to contemplate a future fund for money to be spent perhaps after 2020, or something of that 
nature, when some people are predicting that there will be a downturn in the economy. That is the concern that I 
have with part (d) of the motion; that is, that the money should not come from that fund. 

That brings me to the point that there have been dramatic improvements in communications in Australia over the 
past 30 or 40 years. Those improvements have been brought about by using revenue provided from the general 
revenues of the country and by the private sector investing its own funds in new technology. Hon Vince Catania 
said that the Howard government had a flat-earth policy on these sorts of things. I remind him that back in the 
late 1970s, when there was a federal Liberal government and a state Liberal government, we made the decision 
to have a domestic satellite for communications. That was the very first serious move by Australia into the 
modern world of telecommunications. I remember attending a conference in Canberra as a very young, green 
member of Parliament when the whole issue of a domestic satellite was discussed. We came to realise the 
dramatic benefits that could be made available to Australia, and in my case particularly to the remote citizens of 
Western Australia, by having a domestic satellite for communication purposes. That was done by a “flat earth 
society” party headed, I think, by Malcolm Fraser at the time. 

If we look at the way in which telecommunications have improved, there are countless examples of how 
technology has been improving over the years and how much better our communication system is now from 
what it was even 30 years ago. When I first came into this Parliament there was no television in my electorate, 
except in Kalgoorlie, I think; actually Kalgoorlie was not in my electorate. I do not think there was any 
television. There certainly was none in Exmouth and Carnarvon and those sorts of places. Television is now in 
every hamlet and every household in Australia, if people use a satellite. Things have improved dramatically. 
Facsimile transfer, which was just a dream when I first came into this place, is now old technology in lots of 
ways. We as a society are therefore progressing very rapidly in our ability to communicate through the various 
methods that are available for communications. The internet, which is an extraordinarily recent innovation, is 
now showing a huge explosion in the capacity for people to communicate. 

However, the problem that Hon Vince Catania and I have in our electorate is that for some reason we are always 
behind the city. Metropolitan areas of Australia always get new innovations first and the country regions get 
them secondly. That has been the history of communications in Australia for two reasons: first, consumers live in 
the cities; and, secondly, the distances involved in remote Western Australia particularly make it expensive and 
difficult, considering the small population, to provide new telecommunication systems. In the history of this 
state, therefore, the country areas have always been a bit behind the city areas. That is something that I believe 
can never be avoided. Indeed, currently we are still a long way behind where we should be on mobile coverage. I 
might add that I go to Toodyay—50 kilometres out of Perth—on a regular basis and I get halfway there and find 
that my mobile phone does not work. That should be fixed, and it can be, but it will cost money. I can, however, 
go to most towns in my electorate and use my mobile phone, as they operate through a satellite system. 

We are therefore making progress, but not fast enough. That is why I support the first three parts of Hon Vince 
Catania’s motion, which states — 

(a) the urban broadband network is inadequate to meet current or future demands; 

I would be more inclined to say that the urban and non-urban areas are inadequate to meet current or future 
demands. It continues — 

(b) Western Australia’s mining companies, pastoralists, farmers and communities function in 
regions that are as remote from administrative centres as any in the world; 
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That is absolutely spot on; that is absolutely right. Technology is there now that will enable all of those remote 
mining companies, pastoralists, farmers and all the rest to have access to the very latest internet communications 
opportunities. The technology is there; it is a matter of somebody finding the money for it. It is my view that, 
because until now we have been able to fund the improvement to telecommunications in this country out of 
general revenue without raiding a future fund, we should do that in respect of what Hon Vince Catania is talking 
about in his motion. It should be funded out of the revenues that are currently available to the state and federal 
governments. I hope that might save the Future Fund for the future and not for something that seems like a good 
idea now.  

The motion talks about telehealth. I am aware of the capacity of modern communications to provide telehealth 
capacity in Western Australia. It is an extraordinarily beneficial use of technology that assists people in remote 
areas to have a better health system. It is a fact of life, regrettably, that getting doctors, nurses and other medical 
persons to live in remote Western Australia is becoming increasingly difficult. It is difficult enough to get 
sufficient medical staff in the city. It has become an impossible task to provide the on-site medical staff that are 
needed in every little location around the state. If we can use technology to overcome that problem, we should 
use it. I agree wholeheartedly with Hon Vince Catania’s comment about that.  

Hon Vince Catania did not mention education. The use of modern telecommunications in education can provide 
extraordinary benefits to remote area students. Members would be aware that for generations the students in the 
School of the Air had to put up with the pedal radio. Anybody who has spoken to a child over the pedal radio 
would know that, with the crackling and other interference, trying to hear what they said was a virtual 
impossibility. That was the system of communication for a long time. Now we have modern 
telecommunications, facsimile transfer, internet and broadband and we can, for example, almost have children in 
remote pastoral properties in the same classroom as their teacher, who might be in the Leederville centre that 
provides distant education for remote students.  

I will give myself a small pat on the back. When I became the Minister for Education, I discovered that the 
wonderful centre in Leederville that had been set up as a distant education centre was about to be handed over by 
the government to the then department of the arts. The transfer had been put in train about a week before the 
election. A week after the election, when I got the job, I reversed the decision. We made the decision then that 
education for remote pupils in Western Australia was a priority of our government. As a result, the Leederville 
centre was expanded to provide the Schools of Isolated and Distance Education, which currently exists on the 
same site. We spent a lot of money on that. Part of the technology we sought to use involved the use of the 
studios on that site to create virtual classrooms for children in remote Western Australia, and that was to be done 
by using modern telecommunications. Hon Vince Catania could add to his motion that what broadband internet 
access throughout Australia could also do is continue to improve education for children in remote areas of 
Western Australia. With the teacher shortage, particularly in some of our major country and remote centres, that 
is being done now. Thank goodness for modern technology and thank goodness for the foresight of a former 
education minister to put money into that facility.  

I have a lot of enthusiasm for Hon Vince Catania’s motion, with the exception of the reference to the Future 
Fund. I have no enthusiasm for his comments about the Liberal Party’s interest in the Kalgoorlie electorate. 
Whilst I acknowledge that there was a swing against the Liberal Party at the last election in that seat, I was 
interested to hear Hon Vince Catania tell the house that people had been moving into the electorate. I hope they 
are moving in bodily and have not just had their name registered on the roll, which has been known to happen in 
the past. Barry Haase still won the seat. I remind Hon Vince Catania that until Barry Haase won the seat in the 
late 1990s, apart from one occasion in the 1970s, and it might even have been the 1960s — 

Hon Peter Collier: Mick Cotter, in the 1970s. 

Hon NORMAN MOORE: I am sorry, Mick Cotter, and prior to him a fellow named Peter Brown. The Liberal 
Party has held that seat about three times since it was created. That says to me that if a Liberal member—in this 
case, Barry Haase—can keep winning the seat of Kalgoorlie, he is doing something right. I do not know of 
anybody who works harder than Barry Haase, and the way in which he covers that extraordinary electorate is a 
great credit to him. The people of that electorate have responded to the work he does by returning him at each 
election. I wanted to make the point that we in the Liberal Party are not a flat-earth society. The growth of the 
north of the state and the growth of the mining industry have been largely attributed to the policies of past 
Liberal governments. Indeed, recently we saw the passing of Sir Charles Court, the man who in my view set the 
resource boom going back in the mid-1960s. That boom has seen Western Australia and, indeed, Australia 
benefit dramatically because of the work that was done by former Liberal governments in the remote parts of the 
state. The Ord River scheme and many of those visionary projects that have given Western Australia a seriously 
important economic base were created by Liberal governments, not by flat-earth society Neanderthals, which 
Hon Vince Catania is somehow trying to suggest we are. I know he was only being facetious when he tried to 
suggest that if a canal were built from the north to the south of the state, the water would run from the north to 
the south by gravity. I suspect that some people think that way. However, Hon Vince Catania needs to have a 
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good, hard look at what Hon Colin Barnett was suggesting. It was not his idea; in fact, a very significant 
international company came up with the idea. It was not about water running downhill; it was about water being 
elevated at various points on the way down from the north to the south and then running by gravity to the next 
stage, when it would be pumped vertically and then run down vertically again. The reason for doing that was that 
it was vastly cheaper than pumping it through pipes. As Hon Vince Catania will know, pumping water through 
pipes consumes a vast amount of energy because of the friction between the water and the pipe. The bigger the 
pipe, the less friction and the less energy. The canal idea would have been vastly cheaper, if anyone was ever 
going to shift water large distances in Western Australia. Indeed, I hope that Hon Vince Catania’s comments 
about that idea do not indicate that he might have said the same thing about C.Y. O’Connor back in the 1890s; 
that is, that getting water from Perth to Kalgoorlie was flat-earth thinking. It was not, and agricultural areas and 
the goldfields have benefited significantly from the decision he made at that time. I am sure that Hon Vince 
Catania made those comments only in jest and was not in any way trying to be seriously critical. 

The Liberal Party does not have a problem with the first three parts of the motion. However, as I said at the 
beginning of my comments and as others have said, the use of the Future Fund to extend the broadband network 
is an inappropriate use of the Future Fund, and the government should find the money from its normal revenue 
sources. 

HON BRUCE DONALDSON (Agricultural) [4.38 pm]: I was not going to contribute to this debate, but I was 
most interested in a couple of points raised by Hon Vince Catania. He spoke of the Rudd plan to give 98 per cent 
of Australia access to broadband internet. However, he did not say what would happen to the other two per cent. 
Was he talking about remote Western Australia, such as stations, farms and discrete communities? 

Hon Vincent Catania: The whole lot. 

Hon BRUCE DONALDSON: He is not worrying about the other two per cent. I thought coverage already 
extended to about 98 per cent of Australia. During the federal election, the issue of broadband was raised and it 
was put on the political agenda. Many members will have seen the cartoon of John Howard and Kevin Rudd 
wearing open overcoats, looking at each other and saying at the same time, “My broadband is bigger than your 
broadband.” That cartoon was a bit risqué, but it came about because the Rudd plan was going to be bigger than 
the Howard plan.  

Hon Vincent Catania: The Howard broadband plan would have covered 50 per cent of the country, whereas the 
Labor broadband plan will cover 98 per cent, and the remaining two per cent will be covered by satellite or 
wireless broadband. 

Hon BRUCE DONALDSON: What will the government do for all those people who do not have computers? 
Australia has an ageing population comprising people who are not that computer literate. It took me at my age a 
long time to be able to undertake net banking, emails and all those sorts of things. I finally got there by 
perseverance. With the broadband network and the so-called fast network, when people want to send an email, it 
will take the same time for them to type it, so they really do not want the speed. Hon Vince Catania is obviously 
referring to the speed of information coming in when surfing the net.  

Hon Sue Ellery: You want your emails to get there quickly. 

Hon BRUCE DONALDSON: People can send an email only as fast as they can actually type. 

Hon Adele Farina: It is when you press the send button. 

Hon BRUCE DONALDSON: Does the member think that in our modern day and age three seconds will make 
a difference to our lives? 

Hon Kim Chance: If you are trying to upload data like a spreadsheet or a photograph, it takes time. The 
download speeds are generally faster but the upload speeds are slow. 

Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich: Haven’t you used a computer, Bruce?  

Hon BRUCE DONALDSON: I know what goes on. I am merely making the point that it seems this three 
seconds delay is creating havoc for people in Australia, which I find amazing. 

The other aspect of the motion is the Future Fund. The use of the Future Fund is a good, classical case of what 
happens when the Labor Party gets into power. The Future Fund is a prime example of money that has been 
prudently accumulated. Prudent managers would not at the first opportunity jump in and raid the capital. An 
economist recently made that comment, which I think is very true. I do not think that the Future Fund was 
designed to fund a broadband network. 

I would like an answer to this question when Hon Vince Catania responds and winds up the debate on his 
motion: does he believe that an upgrade of the current broadband service needs a big injection of government 
money or should it be funded privately? That is a big question. I had a bit to do with Westnet at Leederville a 
few years ago when I was in local government. We used that service to get information into some of the schools 
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and communities around the state to promote what local government was all about. When we start talking about 
the use of taxpayers’ funds to roll out a so-called better broadband network, should it be funded by the 
government or private enterprise? For example, the government owns 51 per cent of Telstra and the shareholders 
own the other 49 per cent. I am wondering why we should be pouring money from the Future Fund into a 
network service for computers, whether for education or not. Will it make the service quicker and better for 
schools and the interaction between schools? Will it create a better and faster service for downloading images 
from scans from magnetic resonance imaging machines to a centrally based specialist for assessment? Will it 
improve that side of things? 
A look at the last census shows that 2.5 million households were without internet access. Of them, 1.4 million 
were households with children. In most cases, the lack of internet access was because families did not have a 
computer, or found the current ongoing costs of internet access more than their budget could bear. It is still a 
very high price to pay on an annual basis. Now a lot of people have actually come off their landline set-up with 
their service providers and rely only on a mobile phone. That is becoming more and more the case, because it is 
far more affordable to have just a mobile phone. I wonder where we are going from there.  
Talking about communications generally, over the years people from rural areas have complained from time to 
time about the lack of service. It is interesting to note that sales of two-way radios—which we all used to have in 
our tractors and trucks and everything else, hearing a continual chatter that used to drive me mad—have gone 
down. I would turn it off in whatever vehicle I was in, much to the annoyance of my staff who wanted to get in 
contact with me. They would berate me, saying, “Why don’t you leave it on?” I could not stand the idle talk that 
was going on amongst all my friends and colleagues around the place. Most farmers these days operate with a 
mobile phone. Even my very good friend — 

Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich: What’s wrong with that? 

Hon BRUCE DONALDSON: I know the mobile phone network is much better than people make out. It has 
been for some time. I had a call from my very good friend the former member for Moore, Mr Bill McNee. He 
was busy on a tractor after some rain just recently, getting some ground ready for this current year’s crop. I said, 
“Where are you?” He said, “I’m on the tractor, going round and round; we’ve had some rain.” I thought it was 
unusual because that would not have been heard of 10, 15 years ago. It just would not have been possible. 
Today, there are greater opportunities for communications.  
The Leader of the Opposition has said that the opposition supports the first three parts of Hon Vince Catania’s 
motion, but I do not believe that using the Future Fund is a good use of the money. I am not too sure whether the 
so-called announcement of “We are going to be bigger and better” is really to the point, quite frankly.  
Has anyone seen the ads on TV recently about the boy showing a young girl his TV screen? She says, “Oh, but 
my dad’s got a bigger and better screen than that for us.” This boy is a typical, very smart male, of course! He 
says, “Come and have a look at my swimming pool.” He takes the little girl outside and it overlooks the whole of 
the ocean. It is somewhere near Mandurah. I thought that was a very good analogy of the way in which Prime 
Minister Rudd has been talking about the broadband network.  
I look at the future of all this and think, “If this is going to be so good, I am going to be even more keen to 
become very, very proficient with the computer.” I shall watch with great interest—one day when I step away 
from this place—when I can have parliamentary proceedings very quickly downloaded for me on high-speed 
internet and watch what members are doing in this house. I will be right up to scratch. In fact, members will 
probably be screaming out, and I will be screaming back with my questions! Who knows? There could be a new 
interaction between the public and members of Parliament. I think members of Parliament should listen to their 
public more than they probably do.  
I think Hon Vince Catania is on the wrong track. I believe he is trying to encourage the misuse of what the 
Future Fund was set up for.  

HON RAY HALLIGAN (North Metropolitan) [4.50 pm]: In common with Hon Bruce Donaldson, I was not 
going to contribute to this debate, but it is interesting to hear some of the arguments being put forward about 
broadband and the future and the way in which some of the members on this side have been described as 
something akin to dinosaurs. However, I can assure you, Mr President, that I try to keep up to date with what is 
happening. I tried to put my hand out for this you-beaut broadband network which is currently available to us 
and which is said to be going to get even better in the future. However, I have been waiting and getting older 
while all this was supposed to be happening. We are relying on government agencies for much of this new 
broadband internet service. Mr President, it is unfortunate that to date we have been waiting far too long. I 
believe the technology is there; I think everyone will agree that there is sufficient technology to provide a great 
deal of what it is that we currently require. Of just how far we can go there is no doubt in the minds of the—
some might say very young—technocrats and entrepreneurial types involved in technology who have the vision 
of tomorrow. However, we do not know what we do not have; we can guess at what we might like to have, but I 
am not sure that we can handle it in any case. That will require further analysis and probably further argument at 
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some time in the future. Currently, I cannot even receive my emails in this building. This is the technology we 
have today, and we are talking about something that will supposedly be you-beaut in the future! We cannot even 
provide the elementary services right now. How much money will it require just to provide those elementary 
services? I know not. We will talk about the Future Fund in a moment; I am just talking about the technology. 
Are we in fact being held to ransom? I am not suggesting that we are being held to ransom by the government or 
the people who work for government, but by some of the service providers such as Telstra, Optus and Vodafone. 
I continually read about the fact that this technology exists and that there are certain things that they need to do; 
again, I know not what. Probably more importantly, it is a matter of them receiving moneys—I know not how 
much money they expect to receive—to be able to provide these basic services that I cannot currently receive.  

Of course, we would all like to have these things. As we look back at technologies over the years—Hon Norman 
Moore has made mention of certain of them—I can remember a time before faxes when we used to use telexes. 
Of course, some of the younger members opposite will not remember those days—the very young members! I 
can even go back to South Pacific, where they used the coconut telephone, and it worked extremely well and 
extremely efficiently, unlike the broadband of today! It does not work effectively or efficiently. When we talk 
about broadband, we normally talk about speed. However, a word that is often ignored or forgotten is reliability. 
The problem appears to be reliability. It is speedy when it is working, if it is working, but it is not reliable. We 
need the technocrats to explain to us exactly what can be done and at what cost to make it reliable as well as 
speedy. There is no doubt that everyone in Western Australia, and in Australia for that matter—we can include 
the world if we like—would dearly love to be able to communicate quickly, simply and speedily. It is up to the 
technicians to show us how that can be done at a price we can afford. That is also an important aspect of 
providing and receiving this type of technology. Telehealth capacity has been mentioned. Although I do not have 
any experience in that area, I am aware of certain things that can be done that can be of assistance to people, 
particularly in remote areas. Again, we are looking at not only speed, but also reliability. It is one thing to be able 
to transfer images of X-rays from remote areas to metropolitan areas where specialists can see them and make a 
diagnosis; however, if the image of the X-ray disappears on its way to the metropolitan area due to internet 
unreliability, it is of no purpose. More importantly—I have seen some of this, only on television, I admit, and 
Hon Kate Doust will no doubt berate me for watching television—it can be an educational tool of itself. Through 
this medium doctors in metropolitan areas have been able to instruct doctors in remote areas how to carry out an 
operation. We can imagine the situation if that unreliability I mentioned caused the system to fail in the middle 
of an operation. It could have disastrous consequences. Not just speed but also reliability are all important.  

How can we cause all this to happen. We are being advised that all it needs is money. How much money? Who 
cares? There is a bottomless pit out there. It is called the Future Fund. The notion exists that we just keep dipping 
our hand into the Future Fund, putting the money into this area, and it will work, one might suggest, a little like 
our current health system. When we consider the amount of money that has been put into it, it should be an 
absolutely first-class system in which there are no delays for people wanting operations and no ramping of 
ambulances at hospitals and the like. That would be the case if money were the only ingredient required to create 
a perfect system. However, I suggest that it is not.  

Hon Bruce Donaldson also mentioned that consideration should be given to something of this nature being 
funded privately rather than by the public purse, although the motion moved by Hon Vince Catania refers to 
enabling public investment in something of this nature, using the Future Fund, the money belonging to the 
taxpayers of this state and this country, to make this public investment into something of this nature. The 
difficulty I see with something like this happening is that, with the inefficiencies associated with governments 
involved in commercial enterprises, insufficient study has been undertaken to determine not only the viability of 
the operation, but also how much money will be required to bring it to a position whereby not only can it operate 
efficiently and effectively, but also the users can afford to pay for it. 

Debate interrupted, pursuant to standing orders. 

[Continued on page 160.] 

QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE 
WITTENOOM — MINING TENEMENTS 

19. Hon NORMAN MOORE to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for Resources: 
Mr President, can I just make an observation? It seems that the broadband between the government, ministerial 
officers and Parliament House has broken down. I keep getting these notes saying the minister is unavailable or 
he is in the bush or he is lost or there is a fire in the office or whatever. 

Hon Ray Halligan: It does not stop them catching planes, though! 

Hon NORMAN MOORE: No. Needless to say, three or four questions that have been put in today are not 
available for answer and that is for just one member. 
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I refer the minister to question without notice 2 concerning mining tenements around Wittenoom.  

(1) Who are the three companies holding granted tenements and what are the main minerals targeted by 
those tenements? 

(2) Who are the five exploration licence applicants and what minerals are they exploring for? 

(3) Will any of those tenements require infrastructure development in a special category area around 
Wittenoom? 

Hon KIM CHANCE replied: 
I thank the honourable Leader of the Opposition for the question. We are apparently aware of the question—it 
must exist somewhere — 

Hon Norman Moore: It is in cyberspace! 

Hon KIM CHANCE: No; Hon Jon Ford has actually seen the question. I have not, but I believe an answer is 
available today and we will provide that answer as soon as it comes in. 

WITTENOOM — MINING TENEMENTS 

20. Hon NORMAN MOORE to the Minister for Regional Development: 
Perhaps I should ask if there is a problem with the broadband! 

Hon Kim Chance: I don’t think so. 

Hon NORMAN MOORE: My question is to the Minister for Regional Development. I was given a note to say 
that the minister would be out on the road this week, but he is actually here. I will ask him the question and if he 
does not have an answer, I will have to assume he is out on the road. 

I refer the minister to the government’s endeavour to close the town of Wittenoom. 

(1) Is the minister aware of mining industry interests in the area? 

(2) Has the minister taken any steps to stop any new mining tenement applications being granted in the 
area; and, if not, why not? 

(3) Has the minister taken any steps to have granted mining tenements in the area cancelled; and, if not, 
why not? 

(4) Will the minister explain how the health of mining industry people will be protected in the Wittenoom 
area and why the same standards cannot be applied to the residents? 

Hon JON FORD replied: 
I thank the Leader of the Opposition for the question, and I am not on the road. 

(1) Yes. 

(2) No. The granting or stopping of mining tenements is the responsibility of the Minister for Resources, 
who may impose special risk management conditions on tenements. 

(3) No. See the answer to (2). 

(4) In addition to the asbestos management plan required by the Department of Industry and Resources, 
specific requirements and safeguards are in place for workers through the Department of Consumer and 
Employment Protection. These include a risk assessment, limits on the time of exposure, protective 
suits and respirators and limits on the types of activities undertaken, and risk management also includes 
limiting access to exposure. 

Wittenoom residents have, by their own choice, been exposed over prolonged periods with no such 
protection, despite being informed of the danger. They hold freehold title to their properties, so we have 
no ability to impose any similar protections on them. I am gravely concerned for the health of tourists 
and other transient people visiting the town and ignoring the warnings. 

MAIN ROADS – POLICE ESCORT SERVICES FUNCTION 

21. Hon SIMON O’BRIEN to the minister representing the Minister for Police and Emergency 
Services: 

(1) Is the government planning to have Main Roads Western Australia take over the police escort services 
function? 

(2) If so, when will this transfer of responsibility occur? 
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Hon JON FORD replied: 
I thank Hon Simon O’Brien for some notice of this question. The Minister for Police and Emergency Services 
has supplied the following answer — 

(1) No. 

(2) Not applicable. 

REDRESS WA APPLICATIONS 

22. Hon ROBYN McSWEENEY to the Minister for Child Protection: 
I refer to Redress WA and ask — 

(1) How many people have applied for Redress packages? 

(2) How many of those people are Aboriginal? 

Hon SUE ELLERY replied: 
I thank the honourable member for some notice of the question. 

(1) Applications for Redress payments do not open until 1 May 2008. As at 20 February 2008, the 
following expressions of interest for receipt of an application package have been received — 

(a) 340 via the website; 

(b) 715 via the 1800 information line; and 

(c) 302 via mail. 

Some of the expressions of interest received via mail may be from individuals who have also registered 
their interest by way of the website or the information line. 

(2) Information regarding Aboriginality is provided on a voluntary basis only. As at 12 February 2008, 
23.8 per cent of the email inquirers to Redress WA have identified themselves as being of Aboriginal or 
Torres Strait Islander descent, and 20 per cent of those who forwarded an expression of interest form 
via mail have identified themselves as being of Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander descent. 

SEX-ABUSE PROSECUTIONS — VICTIM ASSISTANCE 

23. Hon GIZ WATSON to the Minister for Child Protection: 
I refer to the current sex-abuse prosecutions in the Kimberley region, and ask — 

(1) What arrangements exist to ensure that the victims are provided with — 

(a) victim support services in a culturally appropriate manner; 

(b) child witness services in a culturally appropriate manner; and 

(c) culturally appropriate legal assistance to apply for criminal injuries compensation? 

(2) How much funding has been allocated for each of these services? 

Hon SUE ELLERY replied: 
I thank the honourable member for some notice of the question.  

(1) Regular visits are made to remote Aboriginal communities and — 

(a) culturally appropriate written material has been developed and a video, explaining the role of 
a witness in court and the support services available to Aboriginal people, has also been 
distributed widely. A senior Aboriginal services officer based in Perth is also available to 
provide consultation and advice to all regional workers on the delivery of support services to 
Aboriginal victims and child witnesses;  

(b) all child witnesses are individually assessed and arrangements are tailored to meet their 
specific needs. These arrangements include explaining the court process, preparing child 
witnesses to give their evidence, and identifying an appropriate support person. Workers also 
liaise with the Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions to ensure that appropriate travel 
and accommodation arrangements are made for child witnesses and their support person; and 

(c) Victim Support and Child Witness Service officers provide general information about victims’ 
entitlements to apply for criminal injuries compensation, and refer victims to the Aboriginal 
Legal Service or other legal service providers for further assistance. 
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(2) In 2007-08 the funding allocated for the delivery of these contracts in the Kimberley region totals 
$267 890. 

Last week, in my capacity as Minister for Child Protection, I met with the Chief Justice and the Director 
General of the Department for Child Protection to discuss how we might also assist the courts.  

DISRUPTIVE SCHOOL STUDENTS — TRIAL BEHAVIOUR CENTRES 

24. Hon PETER COLLIER to the minister representing the Minister for Education and Training: 
I refer the minister to question on notice 5587 and ask — 

(1) What are the precise addresses of the three trial behaviour centres located in Belmont, Hilton and 
Kalgoorlie-Boulder? 

(2) Is there any intent to transfer the trial behaviour centre at Hilton to another location? 

(3) If yes to (2), what will be the precise address of the trial behaviour centre at Hilton? 

(4) When will the trial period of the three behaviour centres conclude? 

Hon LJILJANNA RAVLICH replied: 
I thank the member for some notice of this question. 

(1) The centre in Canning is located on site at the Belmont Community College. The centre in the 
goldfields is located in Egan Street, Kalgoorlie. The centre in Fremantle-Peel is located adjacent to the 
Hilton Police and Citizens Youth Centre in Paget Street, Hilton. 

(2) Yes. 

(3) Negotiations for the relocation of the Hilton centre are in the process of being finalised. 

(4) December 2008. 

METROPOLITAN HEALTH SERVICE BOARD 

25. Hon HELEN MORTON to the minister representing the Minister for Health: 
Further to question without notice 1280, provided Thursday, 6 December 2007, I ask — 

(1) Is the Metropolitan Health Service Board responsible for the government’s mental health services in 
Perth? 

(2) Are staff who work in the above services employees of the MHSB?  

(3) When did the Minister for Health become the board of the MHSB and when did he cease to be the 
board of the MHSB? 

(4) Is the minister the employer of clinicians and other staff who work in the MHSB? 

(5) Does the minister dispute that section 162 of the Mental Health Act 1996 makes it an offence for any 
person having responsibility towards a person in the mental health system to ill-treat or wilfully neglect 
that patient? 

(6) Does the minister dispute that the Council of Official Visitors raised possible cases of wilful neglect or 
ill-treatment of mental health patients in its last three annual reports? 

Hon SUE ELLERY replied: 
I thank the member for some notice of this question. 

(1)-(4) The Metropolitan Health Service Board was abolished in March 2001. With the abolition of the MHSB, 
the Minister for Health assumed the role formerly undertaken by the MHSB under section 7 of the 
Hospitals and Health Services Act 1927, in an incorporated capacity as the board of all hospitals 
formerly under the control of the MHSB. Although the minister, in this incorporated capacity, is an 
employer of persons providing mental health services, other entities within the government’s health 
system in Western Australia also employ persons who provide mental health services. 

(5)-(6) No. 

EXPORT PRODUCTION VALUES — MINING AND PASTORAL REGION 

26. Hon SHELLEY ARCHER to the parliamentary secretary representing the Minister for State 
Development: 

What is the estimated export production value in Australian dollars of the resource sector operations located 
within the Mining and Pastoral Region for — 
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(a) 2006-07; 

(b) 2005-06; and  

(c) 2004-05? 

Hon SUE ELLERY replied: 
On behalf of the parliamentary secretary, I have checked her files, and there is no answer. If one becomes 
available, I will be happy to provide it. 

TEACHER RECRUITMENT — INTERSTATE AND OVERSEAS 

27. Hon GEORGE CASH to the minister representing the Minister for Education and Training: 
The Minister for Education and Training has proposed that some interstate and overseas-qualified teachers 
receive special incentives, including a one-off payment to encourage them to join the teaching staff of the 
Department of Education and Training. 

(1) Will the minister provide the criteria for such incentives and payments? 

(2) What is the monetary value of these special incentives, including the one-off payment? 

(3) Is it intended that interstate or overseas-qualified teachers be paid salaries greater than current teachers; 
and, if so, how much greater? 

(4) Will these special incentives create a two-tiered payment system for interstate or overseas-qualified 
teachers, compared with WA-qualified teachers? 

(5) How many interstate or overseas-qualified teachers have joined the teaching staff of the Western 
Australian Department of Education and Training as a result of these special incentives in the past three 
months? 

Hon LJILJANNA RAVLICH replied: 
I thank the member for some notice of this question. On behalf of the Minister for Education and Training, I 
provide the following response – 

(1) No special incentives are available. 

(2)-(5) Not applicable.  

WEST COAST DEMERSAL SCALEFISH (INTERIM) MANAGEMENT PLAN 2007 — EFFECTS 

28. Hon BRUCE DONALDSON to the Minister for Fisheries: 
I made a mistake in the preamble provided to the minister, but that was my fault in putting things across to my 
office. With the exclusion zone for commercial fishermen in the Lancelin to Mandurah area, which provided 
approximately 80 per cent of Western Australian metropolitan consumers with their category 1 fish 
requirements —  

(1) Has any monitoring been done, or is any monitoring being done, to ascertain the impact on retail outlets 
selling fish to the public? 

(2) Have prices of fillets of dhufish and snapper risen since the exclusion zone began operating? 

(3) If so, by how much? 

(4) What replacement species of fish are being used in restaurants and fish and chip shops? 

(5) Are we now relying more heavily on imports from Asia of seafood for Western Australian consumers?  

Hon JON FORD replied: 
I thank Hon Bruce Donaldson for some notice of this question. My response is to the member’s original 
preamble, which states — 

With the exclusion zone for commercial fishermen in the Lancelin to Mandurah area, which provided 
approximately 80 per cent of Western Australian consumers with their fish requirements — 

(1)-(5) The metropolitan area commercial closure applies to only two fisheries: the west coast demersal 
scalefish fishery, and the west coast demersal gillnet and longline fishery. That is to say that there is 
still the rock lobster, the sardine and the other fisheries. These closures amount to approximately 3.6 per 
cent of the statewide catch of demersal scalefish and shark by commercial fishers, which is well short of 
the 80 per cent claimed by the member. Again, that is referring to the original preamble. It is only 
3.6 per cent of the statewide catch of demersal scalefish. In fact, most of the demersal scalefish in Perth 
come from the Pilbara trawl. Both of the affected fisheries catch a suite of high-value demersal species, 
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including Western Australian dhufish and pink snapper. The findings from the Department of Fisheries’ 
recent research, completed in late 2007, on the stock status of the key demersal scalefish indicator 
species for the west coast bioregion—WA dhufish and pink snapper—indicate that the key indicator 
species are significantly overfished; and, secondly, that total fishing mortality must be reduced by at 
least 50 per cent in the short term to ensure that catches of demersal scalefish are returned to sustainable 
levels. My principal concern as the Minister for Fisheries remains sustainability, and my decisions were 
based primarily on ensuring the future of these iconic species.  

The Department of Fisheries is currently monitoring fish prices and regularly reports to my office. 
However, fresh local line-caught demersal scalefish have always been significantly more expensive 
than other high-volume and imported fish species. Although the department has observed that the retail 
price of dhufish and pink snapper has increased over the past 18 months, most of that increase took 
place before any announcements about the wetline review outlines, the metropolitan area commercial 
closure, or the research findings on the stock status of the key demersal scalefish indicator species for 
the west coast, and as such was well ahead of the commencement of the closure on 15 November 2007. 

The main point with regard to this matter is that the Western Australian fishery has been lucky in that 
because of Western Australia’s isolation, the population of Western Australia has been fairly small. Of 
course, the population has been increasing steadily over the years, and it is now increasing 
exponentially as the resource sector ramps up. The other issue is that the Western Australian fisheries 
generally have a lower fish density than the fisheries on the east coast. That is to say that the marine 
environment in Western Australia cannot support X number of fishermen in an area at the same levels 
as can be sustained by fisheries on the east coast. However, even on the east coast one fishery after 
another has been fished out and has collapsed. That is the main reason that we have taken this action.  

There has been a steady increase in the amount of imported fish. All sorts of factors have contributed to 
that increase, including free trade agreements, and a payoff for our market penetration into the Asian 
markets and now into Europe, where we have been pretty successful. Therefore, over the years fewer 
and fewer Western Australian prize fish will become available, because they will all go to other 
markets, and we will receive replacement fish species. Therefore, if we do not take this action now, we 
will not have any fish species in the future.  

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN PLANNING COMMISSION — INDUSTRIAL BUFFER ZONES 

29. Hon RAY HALLIGAN to the parliamentary secretary representing the Minister for Planning 
and Infrastructure: 

(1) Is it correct that the Western Australian Planning Commission’s policy on industrial buffer zones 
precludes the development of a shopping centre site on an area defined as a buffer zone?  

(2) If not, what is its policy?  

(3) If yes to (1), what area of Victoria Quay is covered by the policy?  

Hon ADELE FARINA replied: 
I thank the member for some notice of this question. Unfortunately, I do not have an answer for Hon Ray 
Halligan. If the member would like to ask the question tomorrow, hopefully I will be able to provide an answer.  

LEAD EXPORTS — FREMANTLE PORT 

30. Hon PAUL LLEWELLYN to the parliamentary secretary representing the Minister for the 
Environment: 

I refer to the controversial proposal by Magellan Metals to ship lead carbonate through the Fremantle port and to 
transport it through many highly populated suburbs.  

(1) Will the minister impose an additional requirement on Magellan Metals to process the lead into solid 
ingot form at the minesite before transportation to avoid the public safety risk associated with the 
transportation of lead carbonate?  

(2) If no to (1), why not?  

Hon SALLY TALBOT replied: 
The Minister for the Environment has provided an answer in the following terms —  

(1) No.  

(2) The minister is obliged to consider the proposal submitted for environmental approval. The minister 
concluded that Magellan Metals’ proposed method for handling and transport procedures for lead 
carbonate to be exported through the Fremantle port, subject to strict conditions recommended by the 
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Environmental Protection Authority and additional checks and balances added by the minister, will 
ensure a much lower risk to the environment and human health and safety than the previous proposal 
and is environmentally acceptable. Magellan Metals’ environmental proposal to ship lead through the 
Fremantle port does not involve the production of solid ingots. The minister has also made it clear to 
Magellan Metals that, given the company’s record, he will not hesitate to use the powers available to 
him under the Environmental Protection Act 1986 to require the operation to cease if a breach occurs.  

TOODYAY ROAD — SECTION BETWEEN ROE HIGHWAY AND TALBOT ROAD 

31. Hon DONNA FARAGHER to the parliamentary secretary representing the Minister for Planning 
and Infrastructure: 

I refer to the answer given to question without notice 1238 asked on 4 December 2007 regarding the section of 
Toodyay Road between Roe Highway and Talbot Road. Given the increasing level of traffic and ongoing 
concerns raised by the local community regarding the safety of this section of road, particularly the intersection 
at Lewis Jones Cross, will the minister consider widening this section of road, including providing turning lanes 
into local business where appropriate, and reducing the speed limit; and, if not, why not?  

Hon ADELE FARINA replied: 
I thank the member for some notice of this question. Unfortunately, I do not have an answer. I ask Hon Donna 
Faragher to ask the question tomorrow. Hopefully, I will be able to oblige with an answer.  

ASSAULTS ON POLICE OFFICERS 

32. Hon BRIAN ELLIS to the minister representing the Minister for Police and Emergency Services:  
I refer to some figures published in the WA Police News in August 2006 that indicate that 77 Western Australian 
police officers have lost their lives in the course of duty, that 1 383 police officers were assaulted the previous 
year, and that there is a one in four chance that police officers will be assaulted in any 12-month period.  

(1) Why are assaults on police officers incorporated in the general statistical category of non-aggravated 
assault?  

(2) Of the 3 465 non-aggravated assaults recorded between July 2007 and January 2008, how many were 
assaults on police officers?  

(3) How many of these were assaults on regional police officers?  

Hon JON FORD replied: 
I thank the member for some notice of this question. The Minister for Police and Emergency Services has 
supplied the following answer —  

(1) In late 2002 the incident management system had no capacity to identify assaults on police officers. As 
most assaults against police officers are common assaults, the statistical category of non-aggravated 
assault was deemed the most appropriate under which to record assaults against police officers. In early 
2005 an enhancement to IMS enabled police to have the capacity to report on offences of assault against 
a public officer, which includes police officers, except when the offence is deemed serious.  

(2) Of the 9 584 non-aggravated assaults, 992 were against police officers. 

(3) Of the 3 465 non-aggravated assaults that occurred in regional Western Australia, 375 were against 
police officers. 

KALGOORLIE COURTHOUSE 

33. Hon NIGEL HALLETT to the minister representing the Attorney General: 
Can the Attorney General please explain how the state government can spend $31 million to relocate the 
Kalgoorlie courthouse to the Hannan Street post office, only in the wake of Australia Post’s decision to vacate 
the building, given that it has failed to fund the $500 000 required to appoint a second magistrate in areas such as 
Bunbury and the Kimberley where there are unacceptable trial waiting times of nearly 12 months? 

Hon SUE ELLERY replied: 
I thank the honourable member for some notice of the question. The current Kalgoorlie court, which is more than 
30 years old, is too small and no longer meets the needs of the local community. The new Kalgoorlie courthouse 
will be a first-class facility that will restore one of the city’s most historically significant buildings and will 
provide improved access and facilities for all court users. In particular, there will be secure facilities for 
witnesses, juries and vulnerable users of the court. The availability of the post office enabled enhanced design 
features to be incorporated into the project, including the provision of comfortable outdoor and indoor public 
waiting areas to avoid people having to congregate on Hannan Street. Also, there will be courtrooms with 
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connected outdoor areas designed with appropriate cultural sensitivity that will enhance the environment for the 
delivery of justice. In addition, the availability of the post office building presented an opportunity to better 
preserve the heritage integrity of the entire Kalgoorlie government office building as part of the redevelopment 
of the site. The Attorney General is supportive of the placement of a second magistrate in the Kimberley and a 
third magistrate in the south west, and he requested the Department of the Attorney General to develop a 
business case for each of these placements. The Department of Treasury and Finance is currently considering the 
proposal. 

GERALDTON POLICE — DEATH OF WILLIAM ROWE 

34. Hon ANTHONY FELS to the minister representing the Minister for Police and Emergency 
Services: 

I refer to the failure of the Geraldton police to respond to emergency calls from the Rowe family on Christmas 
night 2007, resulting in the death of William Rowe.  

(1) Will the minister table all information regarding the number and the times of all emergency calls 
received, including by 000 and those made directly to the Geraldton police station; and, if not, why not?  

(2) Will the minister table police records showing the number and whereabouts of all on-duty police 
officers and any incidents they may have been attending at the times those calls were received; and, if 
not, why not? 

Hon JON FORD replied: 
I thank Hon Anthony Fels for some notice of the question. The Minister for Police and Emergency Services has 
supplied an answer. It is quite lengthy. I seek leave to table the answer and have it incorporated into Hansard.  

Leave granted. 

[See paper 3655.] 

The following material was incorporated — 

I thank the Hon. Member for some notice of this question. 

(1) At 2036 hours Geraldton Police received a call through the police station telephone number 9923 4555 regarding an incident 
where Aboriginal children were throwing stones at Sunset Beach. The caller was advised that police would attend as soon as 
possible as they were busy with other higher priority jobs at that specific time. 

At 2044 hours a second call was received by Geraldton Police on 9923 4555 advising that there were a group of youths fighting 
at Sunset Beach. 

At 2052 hours a further call on 9923 4555 advising police that they were being attacked by a group of youths at Sunset Beach 
and the caller then advised police “not to worry as they had left” and the call was then terminated. Police vehicles still headed for 
Sunset Beach and arrived within 3 minutes. 

At 2054 hours a ‘000’ call was received by Geraldton Police that a male person was attempting to commit suicide and a police 
vehicle was dispatched to attend and ascertain the current status of this incident. 

At 2055 hours the next call was received by Police advising them of the brawl at Sunset Beach which is the same time that the 
police arrived at Sunset Beach. A search of the area failed to locate any members of the Rowe family, however police did speak to 
several persons in the vicinity. 

At 2100 hours the first ‘000’ call was received by Geraldton Police regarding the Rowe assault. Police (who arrived at Sunset 
Beach five minutes earlier) were advised that the Rowe family were on the way to the hospital. 

At 2120 hours following attempts to determine the actual location of the assault at Sunset Beach, Geraldton Police were 
dispatched to the Geraldton Hospital to interview the members of the Rowe family. 

(2) At 1800 hours the night shift at Geraldton Police Station commenced with two police officers. 

At 1900 hours a further eight police officers commenced duty. These officers were deployed as the Officer in Charge, Shift 
Supervisor, Tasking and Patrolling Officers, Radio Operator, and Lock-Up Keeper. One officer left on sick leave and another 
officer was deployed to other duties. 

Prior to Police receiving the first call regarding the Aboriginal children throwing stones at Sunset Beach (at 2036 hours), one 
vehicle had been tasked to attend a burglary (at 2003 hours) and two vehicles had been dispatched to attend a man armed with a 
knife (at 2022 hours). Due to the seriousness and priority of this incident (3 x ‘000’ calls at 2022, 2023 and 2025 hours) the 
Shift Supervisor departed Geraldton Police Station with another officer in a fourth vehicle to provide assistance. 

In response to a reported domestic violence report dispatched from Perth, the vehicle attending the burglary was diverted to the 
domestic violence incident (at 2034 hours). 

One person was apprehended at the incident of the man reportedly armed with a knife and placed in a police vehicle. The other 
two vehicles left that location and headed towards Sunset Beach. 

The time taken to travel the 11.5 kilometre distance between the tasking points of Mt Tarcoola to Sunset Beach is relevant to 
police attendance times. 
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BROOME CAMP SCHOOL 

35. Hon KEN BASTON to the minister representing the Minister for Education and Training:  
I refer to reserve 31354 on which the Broome camp school is located.  

(1) Does the minister consider that the continued presence of the Broome camp school represents the best 
use of the land on which it is situated?  

(2) If yes, will the minister commit to upgrading the accommodation and amenities of the Broome camp 
school to allow use by a greater number of students and community groups throughout the year?  

Hon LJILJANNA RAVLICH replied: 
I thank the member for some notice of this question. On behalf of the Minister for Education and Training, I 
provide the following response. Information in the time required is not available. Therefore, I ask the honourable 
member to place this question on notice.  

DEEP SEWERAGE — SPEARWOOD RESIDENTS 

36. Hon SIMON O’BRIEN to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for Water 
Resources: 

The question I wish to ask is one of several submitted yesterday to the Minister for Planning and Infrastructure, 
whose office had burnt down. 

Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich: No, it wasn’t her office. 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: Is it worth asking? 

THE PRESIDENT: Deputy Leader of the Opposition, that is three questions. Do you have a question?  

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: However, there are no answers, apparently, Mr President. What is it? 

The PRESIDENT: A number of other members want to ask questions, so if the deputy leader wants to ask one, 
he should please do so. 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: I am just trying to find out whether any answers to questions have come back. We are 
not asking that one; we do not have an answer to that question; we do not have an answer to that one. What 
about the question to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for Water Resources, or was the minister 
involved in pouring water on the fire on the 12th floor of Dumas House, which has crippled this government and 
made it impossible to get an answer back over two days? 

(1) Is it the case that residents in Spearwood who were promised connection to deep sewerage by June will 
now have to wait another two years? 

(2) What will be the cost for residents to connect to sewerage, and is it the case that connection will now 
cost some residents double because of the delay? 

Hon KIM CHANCE replied: 
I am delighted to provide an answer to Hon Simon O’Brien. When a question is asked with such good grace, one 
really wants to answer it. 

(1) No. 

(2) The cost of connection to the sewerage system is a matter between the plumber and the property owner. 

PUBLIC TRANSPORT AUTHORITY — NORTHERN SUBURBS BUS SERVICES 

37. Hon RAY HALLIGAN to the parliamentary secretary representing the Minister for Planning 
and Infrastructure: 

There is still no answer. I will ask the question anyway. I refer to question without notice 546 asked on 28 June 
2007. 
(1) Is the provision of additional feeder bus services and new east-west services to train stations in the 

northern corridor being considered in the context of the 2008-09 state budget? 
(2) If so, which additional services are being considered? 
(3) If not, why not? 

Hon ADELE FARINA replied: 
I thank the honourable member for some notice of this question. Unfortunately, I do not have an answer for the 
member today. If the member would like to ask the question again tomorrow, hopefully I will be able to oblige 
with an answer. 
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BENTLEY MENTAL HEALTH INPATIENT UNIT FOR YOUNG PEOPLE 

38. Hon HELEN MORTON to the minister representing the Minister for Health: 
(1) How many children under the age of 14 are currently in the Bentley mental health inpatient unit for 

young people? 
(2) How long has each of the above children been an inpatient in the Bentley unit? 
(3) How many of the children were transferred from Princess Margaret Hospital for Children to Bentley? 
(4) Why were they transferred from PMH? 
(5) Why were the other children not admitted to PMH? 
Hon SUE ELLERY replied: 
I am sorry; I do not have an answer. 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY SERVICES AUTHORITY — WEBSITE AND ALERTS PAGE 

39. Hon NIGEL HALLETT to the minister representing the Minister for Police and Emergency 
Services: 

(1) How are the Fire and Emergency Services Authority website and alerts page managed and updated? 

(2) Why was the fire at Waterloo on 13 January 2008 not listed on the alerts page, although it threatened 
both homes and property? 

Hon JON FORD replied: 
I thank Hon Nigel Hallett for some notice of the question. The Minister for Police and Emergency Services has 
supplied the following answer — 

(1) The FESA emergency alerts page on the FESA website operates on a content management system. It is 
updated and uploaded by FESA media and public affairs officers, and can be uploaded remotely and 
from home. During the bushfire season, the FESA media and public affairs branch is staffed seven days 
a week. During large-scale or complex incidents and emergencies, FESA provides a 24/7 public 
information service, including web alerts on the FESA website. In the case of bushfire, it is used to 
inform at-risk communities about critical threats to life and property in bushfires when FESA is the 
hazard management agency. Public information tools available from the FESA media and public affairs 
branch include web alerts on the FESA website; emergency broadcasts on the ABC; a recorded public 
information line; a manned community information line; advice to stakeholder groups; faxed, emailed 
and online media releases; media alerts; and media conferences. In extreme conditions such as the 
Parkerville fire, FESA also requests TV crawlers. 

(2) FESA was not the hazard management agency for this fire, although it provided resources to assist with 
fire suppression. FESA is available to provide public information support to local governments upon 
request.  

FRANKLAND CENTRE — NON-FORENSIC MENTAL HEALTH PATIENTS 

40. Hon HELEN MORTON to the minister representing the Minister for Health: 
For each year from 2004-05 until 2006-07 how many non-forensic mental health patients have been admitted to 
Frankland Centre, the secure forensic inpatient unit at Graylands Hospital? 

Hon SUE ELLERY replied: 
I thank the honourable member for some notice of the question. The numbers of non-forensic patients admitted 
to the secure forensic inpatient unit, Frankland Centre, are: 2004-05, 41 patients; 2005-06, 62 patients; and 
2006-07, 74 patients. 

BROADBAND INTERNET — USE OF FUTURE FUND 
Motion 

Resumed from an earlier stage of the sitting. 

HON RAY HALLIGAN (North Metropolitan) [5.35 pm]: Before question time I was talking about the 
funding that was proposed to be used by the Rudd government for broadband internet and mentioning that, of 
course, it is proposed to use funding from the Australian government’s accumulated Future Fund. However, we 
have found in the past, we find currently and I suggest we will find in the future that when these decisions are 
made politically, as distinct from commercially, no thought is put into the amount of money that will be put into 
these projects. One need look only at services that are properly provided by government, rather than by private 
enterprise, to find that moneys are continually put into services because they are required by the public, although 
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one can reasonably consider that those services are not viable. Unfortunately, there comes a time when 
governments behave as though what members of the public do not know does not hurt them. Members of the 
public are unaware exactly how much money is put into services and how much they cost—not necessarily the 
cost to an individual—when they buy the services. 

Debate interrupted, pursuant to standing orders. 

WEST COAST DEMERSAL SCALEFISH (INTERIM) MANAGEMENT PLAN 2007 — 
DISALLOWANCE 

Order of Business — Statement by Leader of the House 

HON KIM CHANCE (Agricultural — Leader of the House) [5.38 pm]: I am about to move the usual motion 
to defer a number of disallowance motions, but I want to make a point about order of the day 544, particularly to 
draw the attention of Hon Bruce Donaldson to this matter. Although order of the day 544 is not due to be 
debated until Thursday of next week, it is likely that we will debate it one day earlier, on Wednesday of next 
week. 

Hon Bruce Donaldson: I thought it was Tuesday. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: We can talk about that. I just wanted other members to know that we will not be waiting 
necessarily until Thursday. 

Hon Norman Moore: Your office said Tuesday. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: Okay, Tuesday. I am sorry, I did not realise the Leader of the Opposition had been 
informed. However, other members might not have been informed that we intended to do that. 

CRIMINAL LAW AND EVIDENCE AMENDMENT BILL 2006 
Report 

Report of committee adopted. 

ACTS AMENDMENT (JUSTICE) BILL 2007 
Second Reading 

Resumed from 21 November 2007. 

HON SIMON O’BRIEN (South Metropolitan) [5.40 pm]: The Acts Amendment (Justice) Bill 2007 deals with 
amendments to a very large number of existing statutes. It could fairly be described as an omnibus bill in the 
sense that it deals with a number of largely minor and generally uncontroversial amendments to a very wide 
range of parent statutes. I will return to that theme in just a moment.  

The driver for this bill stems largely from a review of legislation that followed the introduction of a reform 
package comprising a number of pieces of legislation that were dealt with in 2004. That legislation included the 
Magistrates Court Act 2004, the Magistrates Court (Civil Proceedings) Act 2004, the Justices of the Peace Act 
2004, the Civil Judgments Enforcement Act 2004, the Courts Legislation Amendment and Repeal Act 2003, the 
Criminal Procedure Act 2004, the Criminal Appeals Act 2004 and the Criminal Procedure and Appeals 
(Consequential and Other Provisions) Act 2004, the provisions of which I am sure members are readily familiar 
with. The package of information led to some reforms that drew on a succession of Law Reform Commission of 
Western Australia initiatives and recommendations together with sundry other reviews and articles of advice, 
some of which were explained to the house in material provided at the time the bill was introduced. That reform 
process had a couple of distinct characteristics—on the one hand, some reflections in the new legislation of 
changes in procedure and practice and, to some extent, policy, together with some quite radical cosmetic changes 
that inevitably arise when one large body of law is updated through such a large number of new acts.  

Subsequent to all of that activity, from about November 2005 we reviewed the progress of the new legislative 
mechanisms as they were enacted in 2004. In the course of that, certain teething troubles were identified and a 
large number of the remedies that the government proposes are contained in the bill before the house. It appears 
that it was also convenient for the government to take the opportunity with this bill to make a number of other 
amendments in related fields to make the application of the relevant legislation more practical and less 
cumbersome, to remove one or two unforeseen consequences and to generally tidy up this considerable body of 
legislation. I have in front of me a stack of principal acts. These are the acts that are proposed to be amended by 
this bill. Although Hansard cannot record an illustration, it is a very substantial body of material. I started a 
rumour, which was intended for the minister with responsibility for the bill, that the body of material was the 
notes for my second reading contribution. It was done to cause her some sense of disquiet. I am like that. 

Hon Peter Collier interjected. 
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Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: Yes; it is short by my standards. That is not in fact what it is. This body of legislation 
contains the provisions, which in many cases are quite small, that will be amended by this bill. I mention that and 
draw attention to this stack of legislation for a reason that I alluded to in an earlier remark. I made the 
observation that this bill had many of the appearances of what we in this house refer to as an omnibus bill, 
because of the wide variety and quantity of amendments that are to be made. Some of the amendments, as I have 
already summarised, are of a minor and non-controversial nature. I will be seeking to discuss one or two matters 
in the presence of other members in the chamber in due course, and I will come to those particular provisions 
when we get to them. They include, for example, some provisions whereby the government intends to introduce 
some capacity for the minister to discharge certain prisoners from parole provisions. That is hardly an 
inconsequential concept. Provisions of that gravity and nature of interest to the community are the exception 
rather than the rule as one examines this bill. 
In view of that, one would think that this bill, upon its introduction in the house, should have been referred to the 
Standing Committee on Legislation or some other committee. Had that happened, it probably would have saved 
a lot of the house’s time, because we could have been presented, perhaps yesterday, with a committee report that 
was drafted by a bipartisan committee with the assistance of an independent research officer comparing the 
proposed amendments to the existing acts. I think it is unfortunate that that did not happen, and perhaps if the 
government had its time over again, it might have done otherwise. For all the bleating that we have had from the 
recalcitrant Premier in the past week or two, he pretends that he wants to see some progress of bills through this 
house, particularly bills from the Attorney General’s portfolio, yet he is the one who conspires to make the 
processes more drawn out and consume so much more time when the house is in plenary session by failing to 
bring on bills and by letting bills that ought to be referred to committees sit on the notice paper for months and 
months when they could easily be dealt with by a standing committee and then dealt with literally on the spot 
when they are returned to the house. That has not happened in this case and it should have happened in this case. 
This priority bill was not on the list of priority bills that was notified to members on 21 November by the Leader 
of the House on behalf of the government. It is all of a sudden one of several priority bills that were notified by a 
communication late last Friday. The government has no-one to blame but itself that this bill is still with us and 
very little examination of it has occurred on the floor of the house. I hope we will not be blamed for holding this 
bill up, because we do not deserve to be. We, the Legislative Council, do not deserve to be blamed for holding 
this bill up, but apparently we are. We, as the Liberal Party, the official opposition, do not deserve to be 
criticised for holding this bill up, because we have not and we are not. As you will see, Mr Deputy President 
(Hon Ray Halligan), we in fact intend to facilitate this bill. That is the context in which I make these remarks on 
this part of the processes of this house in dealing with this bill.  
This bill contains 132 clauses in 26 parts, containing within many of those clauses sundry individual, if minor, 
amendments. We have literally hundreds and hundreds of amendments to consider with this bill. The bill 
proposes to amend around 30 principal acts. How do we deal with such a bill in plenary session on the floor of 
the house? What I propose to do is this: I have given an overview of the genesis of the bill and the wide variety 
of material that it contains. We are the house of review and I think it behoves us to examine the legislation that is 
put before us in a better way than perhaps occurs in another place. However, I am also aware of the general 
mood and the prevailing view as to the need to proceed with bills and spend time doing things that are really 
necessary and to try to facilitate matters that are less controversial while still reserving the element of scrutiny 
that is required.  
I had some anticipation that this bill would come on this week, not from what the government has officially 
advised us, because most of us got no advice until Monday morning, but from my own communications with the 
Attorney General’s office over recent weeks or months. I have had the opportunity to receive a very good 
briefing from Colin McPhail, who is a government officer. I have also had the opportunity to research this bill. 
Therefore, what I am proposing to do and what the opposition will do—I assume the government will be 
agreeable—is to agree without further ado to the second reading of this bill. 
The opposition approves generally of the amendments, and the reasons for them, contained in this bill. I have 
already indicated that there are one or two areas, such as the ministerial discharge of parole issue, that the 
opposition will be stopping to consider in the course of the Committee of the Whole House. That is one way that 
the opposition can show its good faith about dealing with legislation with some dispatch. Again, I fail to see 
what is so urgent about this bill, but, as ever, it is up to the government to establish its priorities and to bring on 
bills for consideration as it sees fit. When it does, whatever it brings on, the opposition will deal with it.  
The opposition will be dealing with the bill in the following way. I will now conclude my second reading debate 
remarks on behalf of the opposition. No other opposition speakers will speak in the second reading debate. The 
opposition will ensure that it goes through the detail of the bill to the extent required during the Committee of the 
Whole House stage, which I anticipate will follow now and be completed today. I hope that is good enough for 
people outside this house, but I think that meets all the needs both of this house of review and the government’s 
oh-so-important, but chopping and changing, legislative program. I indicate that the opposition supports the 
second reading, and will deal with any queries it has in the committee stage. 
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HON GIZ WATSON (North Metropolitan) [5.57 pm]: This omnibus bill comprises 26 parts, and seeks to 
amend about 30 pieces of legislation. It is quite a substantial bill. I put on record that the first I knew that the 
debate would occur this week was on Friday, at about five o’clock in the afternoon. I give full credit to my 
research staff for their extraordinary efforts in assessing this bill in the past few days. 

The Greens have no problem with, and are more than happy to support, the majority of the bill. I understand 
from the Minister for Child Protection’s second reading speech that the bill before this house today is based on a 
comprehensive review of the Magistrates Court reform that included an extensive consultation process. The main 
aim of the review was to improve the effectiveness of the legislation. I am unsure whether the review report is a 
public document, and I ask the minister if she would indicate whether that is the case by way of response to the 
second reading debate. As we are about to break for dinner, if that information is available, I would be interested 
to have the opportunity to look at it then. I am particularly interested in comparing the outcomes of the review 
with the proposed amendments. It is classic: I am asking for this information on the day when the bill is being 
debated, due to the fact that the bill came onto the notice paper quite suddenly. However, in the same vein as the 
Deputy Leader of the Opposition’s comments, the Greens are mindful to keep this bill moving through because it 
is largely uncontentious. The Greens are happy with the government’s aim to improve any procedures.  

The bill provides for 104 technical amendments to 29 acts. The minister has told the house that the bill is an 
integral part of a reform program that delivers on commitments to provide faster, less expensive and more 
consumer focused courts, tribunals and justice services, which are objectives the Greens wholeheartedly support. 
I comment, though, that on a closer look at this bill, those aims are not necessarily reflected in all parts of the 
proposed legislation. These issues were also raised by the member for Nedlands in the debate on the bill in the 
Legislative Assembly. It appears that some of the amendments will change the intention of the legislation; 
namely, the way it is to be applied and the way that agencies of the courts administer the acts, so there are some 
reservations.  

My main concern is part 15 of the bill, clauses 70 and 72; especially the proposed changes to section 33 of the 
Magistrates Court Act 2004, which deals with access to court records. The proposed amendments will further 
restrict access to records by anyone other than the parties involved in any particular case. 

Sitting suspended from 6.00 to 7.30 pm 

Hon GIZ WATSON: I believe I was just beginning my remarks on this bill. 

Hon Ken Travers: Very similar to Simon’s, I believe! 

Hon GIZ WATSON: We will not go there! 

Hon Simon O’Brien: I heard that! 

Hon GIZ WATSON: I am just not going to comment on it; I am not making any comment one way or the other! 

Before the break I was commenting on part 15 of the Acts Amendment (Justice) Bill 2007, particularly with 
regard to clauses 70 and 72, which encompass the main concerns the Greens (WA) have with this bill. The 
clauses deal with access to court records and proposed changes that will further restrict access to records by 
anyone other than parties to a particular matter. The Greens (WA) do not support this proposal, and I would like 
the minister to explain why it should be made more difficult to access court records and transcripts, rather than 
the decisions of the court remaining transparent and access to court data being facilitated. 

The changes relate to access to court data by anyone other than the parties to a case. The bill proposes to repeal 
section 33(5) of the Magistrates Court Act 2004, which states — 

In respect of criminal proceedings in the Court, where a conviction or order is made, or a charge is 
dismissed, any party interested therein is entitled on request — 

(a) to receive a copy of — 

(i) the prosecution notice containing the charge; 

(ii) the record of proceedings; 

(iii) any statement of the accused’s convictions that is tendered in the 
proceedings; and 

(iv) the conviction or order, 

from the officer who has custody thereof, subject to payment of an amount calculated 
in such a manner as is prescribed by regulations; and 

(b) to view any exhibit in the proceedings that is in the possession of an officer of a court 
and that is not reasonably capable of being copied, at a time and place appointed by 
that officer. 



164 [COUNCIL - Wednesday, 20 February 2008] 

 

That subsection of the act will be repealed by this bill. The right of the media or other interested members of the 
public—such as victims’ support groups, prosecution witnesses who wish to progress their own compensation 
claims, or community legal centres—to access court records will be restricted, and access will be made available 
only if the court agrees to the release of the information. The proposed amendment to section 33 of the 
Magistrates Court Act needs to be seen in its historic context. I remind the house of the background to this 
provision. The Magistrates Court Bill 2003 was debated in the Committee of the Whole on 19 October 2004 
after a detailed scrutiny by the Standing Committee on Legislation. Subsections (5) and (6) of section 33 were 
included in the Magistrates Court Act, following recommendation 2 of the Standing Committee on Legislation. 
At that time, I was a member of the standing committee, as I am now, and I remember the discussion. 
Recommendation 2 from the committee, which was agreed to unanimously, reads — 

The Committee recommends that clause 33 of the Magistrates Court Bill 2003 be amended to allow 
wider access to the court record in criminal proceedings. The statutory amendments required to effect 
this change are set out in Appendix 3.  

Appendix 3 lays out the clause I have just read out. The recommendation to the committee was the outcome of 
extensive consultation with a wide section of views from interested stakeholders in the community, including the 
Chief Justice; Chief Magistrate, Magistrate Wager, who is now the District Court Judge; the Director General of 
the Department of Justice; and the Law Society. Hon Peter Foss, who was also a member of the standing 
committee had the following to say before the amendments to clause 33(5) and (6) of the Magistrates Court Bill 
were passed in the Committee of the Whole. I refer to Hansard of 19 October 2004 in which he states — 

We cannot spend our time endlessly trying to guess what words the minister would prepare for us. 
These words were taken from the Justices Act. The committee assumed that the words worked because 
they have worked since 1902. It is not for us to pre-empt the minister’s wording. Each of the points 
raised by the minister are not really valid. The first matter has been resolved by the Titelius case. On the 
second matter, the Government is going the wrong way if it aims for some form of uniformity. The 
third matter is the minister’s problem, not ours.  

In my view the access to court records must be seen in the same light as access to other public records, especially 
the records of the administrative and executive arms of government. I remind the house of recent discussions 
about the independence of the Freedom of Information Commissioner and the Public Sector Standards 
Commissioner. In my view the government needs to ensure that transparency and accountability of 
administrative and executive actions is guaranteed at all levels. The same should be true for the judiciary.  

On 24 October 2004, against the wishes of the committee, the opposition and the Greens, the government wanted 
to restrict access to court records. I do not see that anything has changed here. I would like the minister to 
explain what inconsistencies are to be removed through this proposed amendment as stated in the explanatory 
memorandum; why the proposed changes are necessary; what submissions were received in support of and 
requesting the proposed amendments; and what strategies the government uses to ensure accountability of the 
judiciary. A very talented intern and law student, Miss Roxanne Moore, was recently working in my office on a 
matter that is relevant to this debate. I raised with her the question of whether Western Australia needed an 
independent judicial commission. We sent a copy of her intern report to the Chief Justice and to the Attorney 
General. That report found that there was no formal system for collating sentencing data and very little public 
confidence in that area. The report also found that there is a need for such an independent body due to the lack of 
a current binding process and the lack of public confidence and to facilitate open justice and to increase public 
awareness and transparency of the justice system. This question of the public’s capacity, whether they be 
interested parties, the media or any other member of the public, is a relevant matter, and Parliament should not 
be moving amendments that will restrict access to the records of the court. I remain unconvinced that the 
government has put up a good argument that this deletion is necessary. I do not anticipate that accountability will 
be served by the proposed amendments. Instead, we should contemplate whether more transparency and 
accountability could be achieved by making all transcripts and judgments available to the public. The Greens 
will continue to oppose any move to restrict access to court records, and would rather see the availability of court 
records widened. 

I bring to the attention of members a report released on 31 October 2007, commissioned by the organisation 
Australia’s Right to Know. In examining people’s access to judicial, administrative and executive records the 
report revealed some disturbing trends. The committee compiling the report was chaired by a former chair of the 
New South Wales Independent Commission Against Corruption, Ms Irene Moss. It contained an entire chapter 
on the justice system, providing details on the difficulties of obtaining court records encountered by media 
organisations, and the difficulties experienced by other parties not directly involved in the case. The chapter in 
the report goes beyond the large number of suppression orders increasingly being sought and details the culture 
of secrecy and obstruction that appears to be impeding public scrutiny. I quote from a 2006 submission by the 
Press Council of Australia to the New South Wales Attorney General on access to court records. It states — 
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The principle of open justice is one of the cornerstones of our legal system. The notion that justice must 
be done in public has prevailed in the common law for centuries. In Australia, the ideal of open justice 
has ensured that the courts have enjoyed the confidence of the public. With regard to the value of this 
ideal the institutions of the law and the media are in agreement. But for open justice to be real and not 
merely an abstract ideal it is essential that the courts facilitate the media’s role of informing the public 
as to the court’s activities. 

The media is a particular subsection of the community that has not only a particular interest in, but also an 
imperative to have access to court records. Otherwise, among other things, apart from the whole question of the 
role of the media in bringing information to the public, it leads to a much higher probability that the media might 
not get the most accurate information. Often in areas of justice and criminal law the media coverage is patchy, if 
not inaccurate, on occasions. That in itself leads to a misdirection of the public debate on a lot of issues, and can 
have long-term consequences in accelerating attitudes within the community that are not based on fact, and can 
lead to a lot of ridicule and criticism of the judicial system, which I think is unwarranted. The question of the 
media having access to the accurate court records is a very serious one, and the reason the Greens cannot support 
the amendment contained in this bill. 
As noted in the decision in Titelius v Public Service Appeal Board [1999] WASCA 19, at page 216 — 

Court orders made in open court are public documents which members of the public have a common 
law right to inspect . . .  
Any departmental instruction to treat such a document as confidential which was issued without the 
authority of statute or an order of the court would be invalid and unlawful; 

Further restricting access to court records would be unauthorised interference in the administration of justice. In 
the debate on this matter in the Legislative Assembly on 20 November last year, the Attorney General, in 
response to a question from the member for Nedlands on whether people had a right to know about certain 
matters and should have access to court documents, said —  

I still remember vividly, as no doubt everybody in the house does, the leaking of a violence restraining 
order, obtained I think against Noel Crichton-Browne, to a leading figure in the Liberal Party by a court 
officer. I guess that might well condition the internal thinking in the courts on the correct approach.  

I do not agree with that assessment. If a public figure is involved in a violence restraining order or some other 
criminal matter, the public has the right to know about it. The court officer in the Perth Magistrate’s Court did 
not leak the document. I understand that he released it to someone who had demonstrated to him his interest in 
the proceedings according to the legislation, departmental policy, practices and procedures.  

This was emphatically confirmed as a fact by the 3-0 decision of the Full Court of the Supreme Court on 19 May 
1999. Did the media make a pariah out of this officer for leaking this document? Not at all. As stated in the 
editorial in The West Australian of 22 May 1999, headed “Titelius case a win for openness”, Richard Titelius is a 
determined champion of principle to many Western Australians. Why does the media need to jump through so 
many hoops to gain access to court information of a routine nature when court records are public records to 
which all should be given access?  

It would appear also that the Chief Magistrate has made an order through section 27 of the Magistrates Court Act 
that any request by the media for access to court records must be made to him. It is not clear to me why such a 
decision should be made by the Chief Magistrate. In my view, such a decision should fall within the duties of the 
registrar. In other courts, court records should be made available by leave of the registrar of the court.  

We also need to keep in mind that the courts are currently moving towards a regime that is based on the 
presumption of providing maximum access to court records. They are also moving towards an expanded use of 
new electronic and online technologies, as mentioned by the then New South Wales Privacy Commissioner, 
Chris Puplick, in his 2002 speech titled “Justice: Now Open to Whom?”. It is interesting to note that the 
Standing Committee on Legislation is conducting a review of the State Administrative Tribunal. The State 
Administrative Tribunal is very much moving towards the use of very sophisticated electronic systems to convey 
its decisions. I realise that is a tribunal, not a court. However, the technology and the systems exist. There is, 
therefore, no technical reason that all transcripts from decisions made in public courts and tribunals cannot be 
made fully available to all those who wish to access them.  

I have been told that the practical effect of the current law is that on occasions the media give up on their 
requests because the process takes too long, the moment has passed and the news interest has gone. That may 
have serious consequences because it may compromise the transparency and accountability of the judiciary. It 
may also create the potential for inaccuracies and inadequacies in the reporting by the media. Suitably trained 
court officers are able to make judgements about access to court records on the same day that an application is 
received. There is certainly no need, particularly in courts of summary jurisdiction, for a judicial officer to be 
required to turn his or her mind to whether to grant access to court records. Such a decision is very simple. The 
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underlying criterion is the principle of providing open justice and a public record. It was confirmed in the 
Titelius case that if the record is created in an open court, it is a matter of public record, with the intention that 
the public should be given access to that record. That was put more eloquently by Justice Ipp in that case, when 
he stated —  

As Malcolm CJ has demonstrated, it has long been accepted that an order of the court is a public 
document to which any member of the public may have access. This rule is part of the fundamental 
principle that generally, court proceedings shall be conducted publicly and in open view.  

A number of eminent legal cases are then quoted in that decision. 

For the sake of transparency in the courts, I ask the house to reject the changes proposed in part 15 of the bill. As 
an alternative, I suggest that the bill be split and that part 15 be referred to the Standing Committee on 
Legislation for scrutiny. This vital matter is embedded in an omnibus bill that covers a lot of areas. From my 
reading of the bill, the amendment sought in part 15 is at odds with the decision in the Titelius case. It is also at 
odds with an earlier recommendation from the Standing Committee on Legislation that was largely championed 
by Hon Peter Foss. I have a great deal of respect for his understanding of court matters. I am slightly anxious that 
members may not be aware that this provision is included in what is a substantial bill. I urge all members to look 
at section 15 carefully to understand its effect. In my view, it is an unnecessary amendment and one of which we 
should be very suspicious. I would be fascinated if someone could explain exactly why the government is 
pushing for this change. In recent times questions have been raised about freedom of information. Although this 
amendment is not deliberately hidden, it is embedded in a very substantial omnibus bill, which, despite having 
been on the notice paper for a while, has come up for debate relatively quickly. The bill raises significant issues. 
Do we as a Parliament think that the records of a public court should be available? I believe they should. 
Members would have to make a very strong case to convince me that access to such records should be restricted. 
If we allow this bill to pass unamended, we will undo some of the good work done in this place in 2004 with the 
support of all the parties, except the Labor Party. It would be a shame if this slipped under our noses. With those 
comments, the Greens (WA) support the bill, but we will seek to have part 15, particularly clauses 70 and 72, 
deleted. 

HON SUE ELLERY (South Metropolitan — Minister for Child Protection) [7.53 pm] — in reply: I thank 
members for their contributions to the debate. Hon Simon O’Brien indicated that he will ask questions about 
matters of substance during the committee deliberations.  

Hon Giz Watson has asked me to respond to two issues. Firstly, she asked whether a public document includes 
the detail of the review that the Attorney General commissioned of the courts reform program. By way of a 
background to this issue, members would be aware from the explanatory memorandum that the principal reform 
drivers came from the work done by the Western Australian Law Reform Commission in the late 1990s. On 1 
May 2005, the new Magistrates Court became operative, as did the courts reform legislation, which was dealt 
with by Parliament in a package of material in 2004. That package included the Magistrates Court Act, the 
Magistrates Court (Civil Proceedings) Act, the Justices of the Peace Act, the Civil Judgements Enforcement Act, 
the Courts Legislation Amendment and Repeal Act, the Criminal Procedure Act, the Criminal Appeals Act and 
the Criminal Procedures and Appeals (Consequential and Other Provisions) Act. The Attorney General 
commissioned a review of the court’s reform program six months after it came into operation. The nature of that 
review included extensive consultation with judicial officers and other stakeholders, but none of that material 
was put into a report, which I think the honourable member asked about. With respect to that level of 
consultation with judicial officers and other key stakeholders, no published document is available.  

As outlined by Hon Giz Watson, it is clear that the Greens and the government will continue to disagree on part 
15 of the bill, particularly clauses 70 and 72. As the honourable member said, the changes that the government 
needed to correct were originally inserted into the legislation as a result of committee recommendations. At the 
time, the committee did not consider that prescription by regulations would achieve a level of access to the court 
record provided at the time by section 148 of the Justices Act. The committee did not believe that there was 
sufficient justification for the change and made recommendations that resulted in provisions of section 48 of the 
Justices Act being incorporated. The committee intended that those amendments be read as supplementing 
section 33(5) of the Magistrates Court Act 2004.  

As the member indicated—this was the view of the committee at the time—the prime purpose of the 
amendments made was to extend access to records in criminal proceedings to a party interested therein, which is 
a wider concept than a party to a case. However—this is what the honourable member asked me to spell out—at 
the time, the insertion of those subsections created several defects and inconsistencies, which we partly rectified 
when we dealt with the Magistrates Court Act 2004. However, some inconsistencies remain. The honourable 
member asked me to spell those out. The introduction of the term “record of proceedings” in section 33(5) is 
superfluous. For the sake of consistency, we would prefer to refer to the documents specified under 
section 33(3)(b), (c) and (d), which cover the same areas: the prosecution notice is covered by section 33(3)(a); 
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the record of proceedings is covered by section 33(3)(c) and (d); the criminal record is covered by provisions of 
the Criminal Procedure Act 2004, which requires the police to provide an accused person with a copy of the 
criminal record; and the conviction or order is covered by section 33(3)(e). The reference to the requirement, for 
example, to pay a fee in section 33(5)(a) is not necessary as that requirement is already covered in 
section 33(10). Section 33(6), which defines “record of proceedings” in section (5)(a)(ii), we view as 
unnecessary as the same area is covered by existing section 33(3)(b), (c) and (d). Furthermore, the subsection 
refers to a clerk or typist, terms that are not recognised by section 26 of the Magistrates Court Act 2004, the act 
under which administrative staff of the courts are dealt with. There are those inconsistencies and inefficiencies 
and areas that are redundant because they are covered elsewhere.  

In addition, it is the view of the Chief Magistrate that the introduction of the concept of a party interested therein 
in section 33(5) and (6) creates confusion and inconsistency, not only within the section but also in its 
application. The Chief Magistrate is of the view that section 33(5) does not give a party any greater entitlement 
than section 33(7). Also, as a consequence of the amendments that were made earlier, the Magistrates Court 
procedure is at odds with the procedure of the two superior courts, whereby non parties can access court records 
only by leave. Furthermore, there is a further deficiency in that in non-criminal proceedings, there is no power to 
provide access to records to a party other than a party to a case. The example that I believe is the most 
compelling in that area is when restraining orders are dealt with, which creates difficulties whereby police are 
not able to access records in relation to applications under the Restraining Orders Act 1997 that are dealt with in 
the civil jurisdiction of the Magistrates Court. Therefore, what this does is set up inconsistencies across the 
different component parts of the courts. 

Hon Giz Watson: Could you fix that the other way? Could you fix that rather than bringing it down to this bill, 
if you see what I mean? 

Hon SUE ELLERY: I suppose theoretically, yes, we could. However, the member asked me to identify the 
inconsistencies and deficiencies, and that is what I am identifying. I am sure we will further the argument in the 
committee stage. However, the government is not convinced that we ought to change from the path that seeks to 
remove those elements that were put into the act following consideration by the committee previously. 

With those comments, I again thank members for their contributions. I think, with the possible exception of that 
one area, that there are no other areas in which the house is in contention on this, and I commend the bill to the 
house. 

Question put and passed. 

Bill read a second time. 

As to Committee Stage 

On motion by Hon Kim Chance (Leader of the House), resolved — 

That the committee stage of the bill be taken at a later stage of this day’s sitting. 

LETTERS OF APOLOGY TO THE LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL 
Referral to the Standing Committee on Procedure and Privileges — Motion 

HON KIM CHANCE (Agricultural — Leader of the House) [8.03 pm] — without notice: I move — 

 (1) That the letters tabled in the house on 19 February 2008 by the President be referred 
to the Standing Committee on Procedure and Privileges for the committee to consider and 
report to the house on — 

 (a) whether the letters constitute an “unreserved written apology” in accordance 
with the resolution of the house on 4 December 2007 and to determine the merit or 
otherwise of the arguments contained in the purported apologies; and 

 (b) what further action may be taken by the house. 

 (2) The committee have access to documents in the possession of the Clerk relating to the 
inquiry of the Select Committee of Privilege on a Matter Arising in the Standing Committee on 
Estimates and Financial Operations. 

The motion is simple and clear, but there are one or two clarifying points that I would like to make. However, I 
do not intend to speak at any length about the motion. I want to make clear that in my view subparagraphs (b) 
and (a) are not linked to each other; subparagraph (b) stands on its own from subparagraph (a); and the functions 
that the committee may take in relation to subparagraph (b) are not necessarily to be taken by the committee to 
be confined to the matters raised in subparagraph (a). By way of explanation, I am assured that the wording of 
paragraph (2) of the motion will allow the committee to have access to documents, including documents that are 
at this stage unpublished. 
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HON NORMAN MOORE (Mining and Pastoral — Leader of the Opposition) [8.05 pm]: On behalf of the 
opposition, I indicate our support for this motion. It is a sensible way forward and a sensible way for the house to 
deal with the letters that were tabled by Mr President yesterday, resulting from the Select Committee of Privilege 
that reported to the house at the end of last year. We need to progress this matter. The Standing Committee on 
Procedure and Privileges is the appropriate committee to consider these matters, and I commend the Leader of 
the House for the way in which he has gone about coming up with a way forward in this matter. We support the 
motion. 

HON GIZ WATSON (North Metropolitan) [8.06 pm]: I indicate that the Greens (WA) appreciate the 
opportunity to have discussed this motion and we are happy to support it. 

Question put and passed. 

ACTS AMENDMENT (JUSTICE) BILL 2007 
Committee 

The Deputy Chairman of Committees (Hon Sheila Mills) in the chair; Hon Sue Ellery (Minister for Child 
Protection) in charge of the bill. 

Clause 1: Short title — 
Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: As indicated, the opposition is keen to deal with this bill with some despatch. I will 
indicate now—I alluded to some of this in my contribution to the second reading debate and it is not a secret—
that there will be some consideration in committee of part 15, to which Hon Giz Watson has already alluded. I 
indicated that part 21 of this bill will also need some examination in detail. The opposition has a few other 
incidental queries on some parts of the bill, of which there are many. We will deal with them one by one. The 
opposition supports clause 1. 

Clause put and passed.  

Clause 2: Commencement — 
Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: Clause 2, as is normal, deals with the commencement date and it singles out, amongst 
other things, proposed section 39. The commencement date for proposed section 39 is described as follows — 

(i) if the Criminal Investigation Act 2006 section 113 has not come into operation on assent day, 
immediately after that section comes into operation; or  

(ii) otherwise, on the day after assent day; 

Will the minister advise whether section 113 of the Criminal Investigation Act 2006 has come into operation? If 
so, does that mean that clause 39 will have a retrospective effect; and, if so, what are the ramifications of that 
retrospective effect?  

Hon SUE ELLERY: I am not able to provide the member with an answer to whether section 113 of the 
Criminal Investigation Act 2006 has actually come into operation. If something hangs on it, we could find out by 
getting a copy of that act. I am sorry, but I am not in a position to tell the member whether that section has been 
enacted. I can advise that it certainly had not been enacted as at November 2007. I would be guessing whether it 
had been enacted between November 2007 and February 2008, but as at November 2007 it certainly had not 
been enacted. 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: I appreciate the difficulties that the minister is facing. The commencement terms of the 
Criminal Investigation Act 2006 are simply that the act comes into operation on a day fixed by proclamation, and 
that different days may be fixed for different provisions. Unless there is some indication that there is a reserved 
day of effect for section 113 of that act, presumably it is in effect and therefore the new provisions that the 
government is proposing could be impacted on. However, on reviewing clause 2, we can answer the question 
because it contemplates a situation whereby section 113 is not in operation. Therefore, if the section is not in 
operation now—we do not know for sure—it will simply be superseded by the provision before us. Conversely, 
the new provision will supplant it anyway on the day that this bill receives the royal assent. That seems to 
indicate that there would not be an element of retrospectivity. It is not as though the rules are being changed. I 
think we have worked that one through and, upon closer examination, there is no element of retrospectivity. 

Clause put and passed.  

Clauses 3 to 29 put and passed. 

Clause 30: Section 3 amended — 
Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: Clause 30 is in part 7 of the bill. It proposes to amend a definition in the Criminal 
Injuries Compensation Act 2003. Members can see that the proposed amendment seeks to replace the definition 
of “health professional”. The definition in the act states — 
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“health professional” means — 

(a) a dentist within the meaning of the Dental Act 1939; 

(b) a medical practitioner within the meaning of the Medical Act 1894; or 

(c) a psychologist as defined in the Psychologists Act 2005 section 3; 

The new definition, as seems to be the way with drafting these days, is three times the money. It reads — 

“health professional” means — 

(a) a person who is registered as a dentist under the Dental Act 1939 or a law of another 
place that is substantially similar to that Act; 

(b) a person who is registered as a medical practitioner under the Medical Act 1894 or a 
law of another place that is substantially similar to that Act; 

(c) a person who is registered as a psychologist under the Psychologists Act 2005 or a 
law of another place that is substantially similar to that Act; 

I have two questions. First, prima facie this seems to indicate that a medical practitioner, dentist or psychologist, 
suitably qualified wherever they come from around the world, can do things in connection with the Criminal 
Injuries Compensation Act 2003 and be acceptable for things done under that act, such as giving opinions, as a 
person who is registered under Western Australian law. I just want to confirm for the record that it is the 
government’s intention that that is the meaning and effect.  

Hon SUE ELLERY: Yes, that is the government’s intent. By way of background, the suggestion for this came 
from the Chief Assessor of the Criminal Injuries Compensation Tribunal. That tribunal has found itself in a 
situation where it often gets reports from practitioners outside Western Australia and even overseas. The view of 
the chief assessor is that there is no reason that an applicant who happens now to be out of Western Australia, or 
was out of the state when being treated, should not be able to be compensated for the cost of reports from 
somebody who is from somewhere else. Therefore, the honourable member is right: the clause amends the 
definition, not only by referring, for example, to the Dental Act of Western Australia, but also by referring to the 
law of another place that is substantially similar to that act. The expanded definition therefore makes provisions 
for reports from those practitioners in other states who are registered in accordance with their own state’s 
legislation, and in the case of overseas practitioners where there are equivalent qualifications. 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: The key expression that I was looking for there for the record has been delivered; that 
is, “equivalent qualifications”, not the qualifications of a doctor from the Island of Bob or somewhere like that! 
We are therefore reassured on that point, but it is important that it be explicit so that we maintain the standards 
that we set in this state, which are high standards, and that they apply in the case of anyone given professional 
standing before an assessment body or the like. Looking at the names of the local acts that I referred to, I guess 
we will see another amendment to this section of the principal act in due course relating to 2006 or 2007 bills 
that relate to medical practitioners.  

Hon Sue Ellery: Most likely. 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: This then does something to argue against those outside this place who would argue 
for its abolition by making sure that we will have a steady workload into the future with future amendments. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clauses 31 to 52 put and passed. 

Clause 53: Section 119 replaced — 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: Clause 53 proposes the replacement of section 119 of the Evidence Act 1906. 
Section 119 of the principal act and its proposed replacement relate to payment for service as a witness. The 
explanatory memorandum states that this amendment — 

. . . deals with the payment of fees to prosecution witnesses, interpreters or a person who accompanies a 
child witness at criminal trials, appeal proceedings and inquests. 

Currently payments are made to witnesses on the basis that the recipients of loss of income payments 
are responsible for declaring payments in their annual tax returns. Consequently no tax is withheld nor 
Payment Summaries issued. 

I will summarise the explanation in the explanatory memorandum. It states that in May 2006 the Australian Tax 
Office—which has its tentacles everywhere—advised the Department of the Attorney General that payments to 
witnesses for loss of income are deemed to be taxable income under the relevant section of the Income Tax Act. 
It appears that nowhere is anybody safe from the Australian Tax Office. I suspect that if this chamber were ever 
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looking at the cadavers act, it would probably find that cadavers are also subject to tax, proving that even unto 
the grave there is no concession given by the ATO! 

Hon Sue Ellery: But you digress. 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: I would never digress, unless the minister encouraged me to, and I am sure she would 
not do that! 

The impact of this is that, in effect, the state is paying the witnesses, or others in the group I have mentioned, 
which would mean that the state is responsible for withholding tax payments. It opens up a Pandora’s box. This 
is my speculation, not necessarily the government’s, but if that be the case, one wonders whether such witnesses 
are also eligible for workers’ compensation premiums or superannuation. If the witness happened to be in the 
Construction, Forestry, Mining and Energy Union, he would probably also be eligible for some sort of site 
allowance in lieu. It will become an administrative nightmare.  

Proposed section 119 is necessarily quite detailed. It sets out some extensive provisions to make some alternative 
arrangements; that is, a witness who is an employee will actually continue to be paid by his employer as if he 
were continuing his normal course of employment and not coming out of his workplace. In turn, the state will 
reimburse the employer for the actual expenses. As far as I can see, that seems to be a satisfactory solution all 
round; in fact, it is a commonsense solution, which makes me worry that some bureaucrat in Canberra will attack 
it for some reason.  

Hon Sue Ellery: Not now.  

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: The honourable minister says not now; I do not know. In view of the fact that the 
inmates have taken over the asylum since late last year, I hope her confidence is not misplaced! 

I note that for the record, with a brief explanation, and say that the opposition agrees with it. However, it raises a 
question that I will now put to the government: does any liability accrue from what has happened over the past 
107 years, or has the Australian Taxation Office decided that it will not pursue that? Has any liability been 
incurred, or is the Australian Taxation Office politely asking us to change if we want to, in order to avoid that 
potential in future? 

Hon SUE ELLERY: I am advised that the ATO made the various jurisdictions aware of its views on this matter 
by issuing a discussion paper. Some other jurisdictions have taken the view that the ATO’s analysis is wrong, 
and have not done anything to change their arrangements. The Western Australian government takes a 
conservative approach and says “Let’s just cover our backs in the event that the analysis turns out to be correct.” 
Certainly nothing was canvassed with regard to, “And by the way—we’re going to go back and seek to address 
this by way of looking back over your records.” There is no indication that the ATO is going to pursue anything 
it might describe as outstanding liabilities. For the member’s information, one of the questions asked was 
whether employers would be at any disadvantage because of the costs involved in employing replacement staff 
while regular staff are involved in court processes. I am advised that the Sheriff’s Office processes electronic 
funds transfers within 24 hours. It is not envisaged that any employers will be out of pocket.  

Clause put and passed. 

Clauses 54 to 69 put and passed.  

Clause 70: The Act amended in this Part — 
Hon GIZ WATSON: I appreciate the call on this clause. However, I think my comments relate more to clauses 
71 and 72. Nonetheless, I reiterate that this part of the bill, which amends the Magistrates Court Act 2004, is the 
part that the Greens (WA) have considerable concerns about. I am happy to not oppose clause 70 and leave my 
comments for clause 71.  

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: Clauses 70, 71 and 72 comprise part 15 of the bill. Clause 70 advises that the 
amendments in this part are to the Magistrates Court Act 2004. As Hon Giz Watson just indicated, the Greens 
have a problem with clause 71, and that is something we want to discuss in detail. I guess it does not matter 
whether we endorse clause 70 now, because the bill will still make sense. 

Clause put and passed.  

Clause 71: Section 33 amended — 
Hon GIZ WATSON: During the second reading debate, I spoke at length about this amendment. Despite the 
minister’s response, I maintain my opposition to this clause. I thank the minister for her response and for kindly 
providing me with a copy in writing. Having had the opportunity to read it, I note that the government’s response 
to this issue of access to court records in the Magistrates Court seems to be saying that the amendments made in 
this place in 2004 have created inconsistencies. I am not disputing that, and I will not argue against that 
proposition. However, it seems to me that the inconsistencies that have been raised could be rectified other than 
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by deleting sections 33(5) and (6); that is, by repealing those subsections. The first point made is that, in 33(5), 
the introduction of the term “record of proceedings” is superfluous and, for the sake of consistency, it is 
preferable to refer to the documents specified. Quite frankly, I do not have a problem with that. If there is a 
question of creating some ambiguous or superfluous reference by having a generic term, which is the record of 
proceedings, why not amend the bill to specify the particular documents, as has been suggested in this response 
kindly provided by the minister? Why not specify the prosecution notice, the record of proceedings, the criminal 
record and the conviction or order? The second inconsistency concerns reference to the requirement to pay a fee. 
I note that the response to this has been covered in section 33(10). That is fine, but we could simply delete that 
reference. Section (6) defines “record of proceedings” and the minister has argued that it is unnecessary because 
the same area is covered in existing section 33(3)(b), (c) and (d). My point is that the remedy proposed is 
excessive compared with the inconsistencies that have been perfectly legitimately raised. I put to the chamber 
that clause 71 should be amended again—unfortunately, I do not have an amendment in front of me, because I 
have been dealing with this as it has been presented to me this evening—to remove those inconsistencies without 
going to the extent of completely repealing section 33(5) and (6). The point I continue to make is that the 
intention of the amendments made in 2004 was to ensure that certain parties, other than the parties to the case, 
have access to the proceedings. It is interesting also to note in the written information provided by the minister 
that the issue of “any party interested therein”, which is part of the existing wording, has raised the question of 
interpretation. The note that I have received states that although the media are not strictly speaking parties with 
an interest in the proceedings, they are in many cases entitled to restricted information, considering their role in 
providing the community with accurate and fair reports of certain proceedings. It says “in many cases”; it does 
not say “in all cases”. This is interesting to me because I am not sure how a court would rule that in certain cases, 
or any cases for that matter, the media were not parties with an interest in the proceedings. It seems to me that 
the media have a function, and either always have an interest in proceedings, or never do. I do not see how it 
could be up to the court to decide what is of interest to the media. To me, that is a kind of fundamental principle 
about having the proceedings of the court available and, as I have emphasised in this debate, having that 
information disseminated widely in the public interest. That is a particular point we are trying to preserve by 
opposing this clause.  
I was interested in the response of the government indicating a deficiency in non-criminal proceedings, where 
there is no power to provide access to records to anyone not a party to a case. This particularly causes difficulties 
for police in accessing court records on applications under the Restraining Orders Act 1997. My interjection to 
the minister during the second reading debate was that that should be fixed up, rather than making this 
amendment. It is certainly a deficiency, and I would argue that it should be resolved. Perhaps the minister might 
indicate whether there is an intention to rectify that problem through some anticipated amendment. It is the first I 
knew that the police had problems accessing records in restraining order cases, and I am sure it is a significant 
impediment to their operations. I think it relates to this clause, and I would be interested in whether the minister 
can tell the house that it will be addressed as well. 
Hon SUE ELLERY: I have identified discrepancies in a couple of areas. The honourable member is right—we 
could take the approach of accepting her principled position and therefore change all the other arrangements so 
that there are no inconsistencies. However, that does not assist the government with the substantive position, 
which is that access to court records should be for parties to the case or by leave, so that the decision is made by, 
for example, the registrar, rather than a situation in which a member of the administrative staff of the court is 
asked to determine whether every person who asks for a copy of a certain record is able to get one. I have used 
an extreme example, but my point is that the courts might be required to spend a lot of time providing 
information to people who might have just some sense of curiosity about the proceedings and not a genuine 
interest.  
It is interesting to add to this debate the views of the Chief Justice. The Chief Justice has signalled that one of the 
areas that he believes the courts need to get better at is recognising the role of the media in reporting judgements. 
The Chief Justice has flagged that issue in relatively recent days, and has made comments about his expectation 
that the courts will get much better at doing that. 
The substantive point of difference between us is who should make the decision about who is able to access 
court records. We can argue about the other inconsistencies and about the best way to fix those inconsistencies. 
However, if we cannot agree on that substantive point of difference—and we cannot—then there is no point in 
arguing about those other issues, because they are extraneous and will not enable us to get to the nub of this 
issue. The government’s position is that the decision about public access to records should be made at a senior 
level. The public records should be made available to the parties to the case. There is no argument about that. 
There is also no argument that anyone else should be free to seek leave to access those public records. That may 
well include the media. Given the signals that the Chief Justice has sent to his judicial officers and to the wider 
community about his expectations, we would expect that the courts will get much better at the flow of 
information and in dealing with applications for leave to access court records, and that a broader range of people, 
and certainly more media outlets, will be able to gain access to those records.  
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As I have said, the substantive point of difference between us is should that decision be made by a clerical 
administrative person in the court system or by someone who holds a more senior position. The government’s 
position is that that decision should be made by the registrar or a senior person, because we will then be able to 
find the right balance between ensuring that the public is given access to information, and ensuring that we are 
not wasting the resources of the court. 

Hon Simon O’Brien: Would that same principle that you have just outlined apply also to a Court of Petty 
Sessions that was dealing with a relatively minor matter? Do relatively minor issues really need to be referred to 
a senior person? I ask that because although those persons might have greater experience, as you have said, to 
make those judgements, it could be a very time consuming process for the court.  

Hon SUE ELLERY: The answer to that question is yes, because the Court of Petty Sessions is now part of the 
Magistrates Court as a result of the recent changes. Hon Giz Watson referred to a specific case in which a person 
in an administrative position in a court had made a decision that had certain consequences. What the courts have 
learnt from that exercise is that it is not reasonable to place somebody at that level in the position of having to 
make that decision. We must draw the line and get the balance right. We must ensure that the public is given the 
access that it should have about how decisions are being made, because taxpayers’ money is being spent to 
determine important matters. We must get the balance right between ensuring that people have access to that 
information and, equally, that the courts’ resources are not wasted by having to provide that information. Every 
day the courts attract people whom, it might be argued, do not have a genuine interest when they ask for that 
material. That is at the extreme end of the spectrum. We need to balance the comments that have been made 
about the Chief Justice and the direction he thinks the courts should take to be more open. We think that we have 
got the balance right in the changes that we are seeking to make.  

Hon GIZ WATSON: Are all Magistrates Court proceedings heard in public? 

Hon SUE ELLERY: I am advised no, not necessarily. For example, some matters might be heard in the 
chambers. It depends on the nature of the proceedings.  

Hon GIZ WATSON: What percentage of Magistrate Court proceedings are heard in public?  

Hon SUE ELLERY: I will put this in the context that we are dealing with criminal jurisdiction. The advice that 
I have received is that 99 per cent of matters are heard in public. A matter that involves the protection of 
witnesses, for example, and other matters of that nature may need to be held in private. However, I am advised 
that a clear majority —around 99 per cent—are heard in public.  

Hon GIZ WATSON: The chamber must be clear that we are dealing with matters that are almost entirely held 
in public. A member of the public—not an interested party or even a party to a case—could be present in a 
hearing and privy to the whole proceedings. What happens when somebody who, for whatever reason, is not able 
to be present during proceedings but who has a right to be at the proceedings to hear what is said? That person 
would approach the registrar and ask for a copy of the particular proceedings. However, the registrar will no 
longer be able to decide whether that person should receive a copy. In my view, that person has a right to have a 
copy. It is a bit like a member of the public sitting in the public gallery. Indeed, having access to a copy of 
certain court proceedings is similar to obtaining a copy of Hansard. The proceedings are recorded electronically 
and are available electronically. My frustration is with the furphy that the court administrative system will be 
bogged down with dozens or hundreds of requests for information. I suggest that there will not be hundreds or 
even dozens of requests for copies of court proceedings. There are a few cases in which people other than the 
parties to the case have a genuine reason for wanting a copy of the proceedings, particularly members of the 
media. As I have said before, if we want to ensure the accurate reporting of court matters, we as a Parliament 
should not do anything to restrict the media’s easy and timely access to such material. One of the things that 
strikes me is that even if we do change this act so that the decision is made by the Magistrates Court itself rather 
than the registrar, that decision will not be made on the day, as far as I understand. A member of the media 
cannot go to the registrar after a particular case that may be of high public interest and say, “I’d like a copy of 
those proceedings in order to report on it in the paper tomorrow.” I made the point in my speech on the second 
reading that members of the media get exceedingly frustrated by this and give up trying to accurately report on 
matters before the courts. 

I do not buy into the argument that there is a problem with allowing the registrar to make the decision. If we go 
back to the Titelius case, what was the assessment? The assessment was that it was correct and appropriate. That 
is, it was judged both legally and in the public debate that it was right for that registrar to access that information. 
It seems to me that this amendment seeks to wind that back and restrict that flow of information. I would like to 
hear the government’s argument, given the current days of electronic recording of court proceedings, which 
makes it is very easy to provide a copy of proceedings to an interested party. I do not think that it is such a high-
level decision that it cannot be made by a registrar. If we are talking about protecting matters that may have been 
heard in camera—we have just heard that 99 per cent of the matters before the Magistrates Court are not heard in 
camera—the registrar would know whether those matters had been heard in camera and could automatically say, 
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“You are not going to get that because it was a private proceeding.” That is the same as what happens in our 
committee work—we know what a public hearing is and what a private hearing is. I think that it is an 
unnecessary restriction. The minister said—I hope it is true, and I think it is—that there is a trend, an expectation 
and a will within the court system to make court proceedings more readily available. It seems to me that this 
amendment is counter to that intention. I still remain unconvinced that this amendment should be supported. 

Hon SUE ELLERY: It is clear to me that the member remains unconvinced. I do not think I will be able to 
convince her, because that is the essential point of difference between us. I think it is clear that the Chief 
Magistrate is of the view that the courts in Western Australia should be far more open. With this amendment we 
are trying to ensure that the correct decisions are made about making court records available. This is not about 
saying that people cannot get them; it is about saying that the people who make the decision should be at a 
certain level. We are not saying that no-one can seek leave to get the records. In fact, we are saying that people 
can make application to get the records. My interpretation of the comments of the Chief Justice is that his 
expectation is that the courts will move closer to that situation. The essential point of difference between 
Hon Giz Watson and me is who should make those decisions. The honourable member has argued that anybody 
ought to be able to put up his hand and say, “I want a copy of those records”, and as a citizen of Western 
Australia he should be entitled to receive those records. We say that there needs to be some management of that 
process, and there ought not be any prescriptions on those people who are obvious—that is, those who are a 
party to the case—but anybody else has to make an application, and a decision is made about whether it is 
appropriate that the court’s resources are used to provide that material. As I have said, I think the Chief 
Magistrate has indicated that he will err on the side of encouraging his judicial officers to make that information 
more readily available. Right now we say that it is appropriate that we use the resources that are available to us 
to have a senior person in the judicial system make that decision.  

We are not saying that people cannot access the material; we are not saying that no-one has the right to ask. We 
are saying that people have the right to ask and to have a decision made by the appropriate person. 

Hon GIZ WATSON: My question then is: what is the anticipated difference in the timely provision of court 
records of proceedings if an applicant now has to wait for the court to make the decision rather than the 
registrar? 

Hon Sue Ellery: Do you mean how long that will actually take? 

Hon GIZ WATSON: Yes. I am thinking again about the media in particular, which, as we know, operate on a 
fairly quick turnaround. Today’s news is tomorrow’s fish and chip paper, or whatever the saying is. It seems to 
me that that is a very relevant point in the timely provision of the record of proceedings. 

Hon SUE ELLERY: On page 39 of the bill, in clause 71(2), we set out the words that we seek to insert. There is 
a new subsection (9) dealing with the rules of the court. I am advised that it is anticipated that that would happen 
pretty much instantly. A form will be drawn up. A person will fill in the form with the details of the information 
he or she seeks and the reasons for the application. I am told that that could happen as quickly as within 
10 minutes; it is an instant process. The rules of the court, as set out in proposed new subsection (9), would 
establish the process for that.  

The CHAIRMAN: Hon Giz Watson? 

Hon GIZ WATSON: I am sorry, Mr Chairman. I thought a further bit of information might be forthcoming. I 
guess I am comforted somewhat by the fact that there would not be a delay. However, I come back to the 
fundamental point: why should the public record of a public proceeding not be automatically provided to any 
interested party? Perhaps it goes beyond this amendment, but it seems to me that that is an automatic entitlement, 
unless a clear case is made that there would be a serious risk to the parties to the case in having that information 
revealed. It seems to me that the onus should be the other way around. I have heard many times the argument 
that it will clog up the court with multiple requests for records of proceedings. That claim has been made. I have 
not seen any evidence of that. It might be a fear, but that must be balanced against what I think is a fundamental 
principle; that is, the proceedings of the court are heard in public, and I guess the decision has been made, if they 
are heard in public, that there is no risk to the public in hearing them, and there is nothing that needs to be kept 
confidential. Why, then, does every citizen of Western Australia not have an automatic right to access those 
records of proceedings?  

Perhaps it is a principle or policy that I am challenging here. I believe the claim that it will impose some sort of 
administrative burden is just not defensible. Those transcripts are produced and stored electronically, and in the 
one-second flick of a switch they can be sent through to a printer. As much as I appreciate that some people with 
an unhealthy interest in court cases might spend half their lives at the court, there are not many of them. I am 
sure the court has the capacity to say, “This is a vexatious or unreasonable request because in the past two days 
you have asked for 100 copies of proceedings.” 
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The principle that is being restricted here is a really important one. I do not accept that a case has been made out 
for its restriction and why access should not be kept as open as possible and provided in the most timely and 
efficient way that the court can provide it. I have noted the minister’s comments that the Chief Justice wants the 
system to be open. I do not know whether it is possible for the minister to elaborate on how that is intended to 
occur. It seems to me that the measures we are debating today, such as electronic access—that is, putting 
transcripts of proceedings on the website—would resolve these questions. The minister would then not need to 
include a provision in the bill for someone to apply for the transcripts of the proceedings to be made available, 
because that person could access them electronically. I do not know whether the minister can indicate where the 
Chief Justice is intending to go with this proposed new subsection. If that is the intention of the Chief Justice, 
this sort of legislation will be an impediment to that sort of initiative and I believe it would be a retrograde step. 

Hon SUE ELLERY: I acknowledge that the honourable member believes the case has not been made out. 
Clearly it is the case. I said a little while ago, when the member said that we were having a superfluous argument 
about the inconsistencies and deficiencies, that the difference between us is that the government’s position is that 
access to those records to someone other than a direct party needs to be managed. That is the difference between 
us. We say that we are heading in a more open direction. I am not able to give the member more details about the 
views of the Chief Magistrate, although from my dealings with him he is not the kind of person who would 
object to providing that kind of information himself. However, I cannot give the member more detail about what 
he said. 

The difference between us is that we say we need to get the balance right between managing the resources of the 
courts and making sure that the decision is made at the appropriate level. All we are saying is that anyone who is 
party to a case has access; anyone who is not must ask for it. A decision will then be made in a timely fashion 
about whether there is some reason not to release that information. I do not think I can put the argument any 
other way. That is the fundamental point of difference between us. I acknowledge, as the member said, that the 
starting point is that everybody should get the information and that only by exception should they not get it. We 
say that anybody who is a direct party to the case should get it absolutely; anybody else must ask for it, and a 
determination will be made on whether there is any reason that person should not get it. The difference between 
us is how that release process is managed. 

Hon GIZ WATSON: I will cease and desist shortly. However, it seems to me that the question is: what are the 
grounds for refusing to provide the transcript of proceedings? Is there any restriction; is there any guidance on 
what can or cannot be used; or can the court simply say no, without giving reason? 

Hon SUE ELLERY: It is as broad as there is good reason. Proposed subsection (8) reads — 

If on an application by a person the Court is satisfied there is a good reason to do so, it may give the 
person leave, either unconditionally or on any conditions the Court imposes, to inspect, obtain a copy 
of, view or listen to, any information held by the Court . . .  

That is a fairly broad catch-all good reason.  

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: I have a bit to say about this clause on behalf of the opposition. It is an area that has 
been visited before. To first examine the provisions that we are talking about in this clause we must go, firstly, to 
section 33 of the principal act—the Magistrates Court Act 2004. Section 33 deals with access to court records. 
Subsection (2) reads — 

This section is subject to any other written law that relates to the possession or publication of 
documents and other records or to the possession of any thing.  

That will not change under what is proposed in clause 71 of the bill before the chamber. It is also proposed that 
subsection (3) will not change and it relates to the entitlement of a party to a case to, on request, inspect or obtain 
a copy of a whole lot of documents, transcripts and orders made by the court. I think members understand who is 
a party to a case—it is a person who is principally involved in the case either as a defendant and, in a civil case, a 
litigant or an appellant, but somebody who is directly involved as a material party to the case. It is not proposed 
to change that provision of the act, and that is not what we are arguing about. However, members must 
understand that that provision is there separately and it will remain in the legislation.  

Section 33(4) of the Magistrates Court Act extends the capacity of a party to a case to obtain some further things 
by leave of the court. It talks about inspecting and obtaining copies of any document held by the court—it might 
be a prosecution exhibit or something—and to inspect any other things tendered in court, and that could be an 
exhibit that is not a document, or, indeed, to listen to or view electronic recordings extended to the court in the 
case. Subsection (3) refers to transcripts of those recordings, which can come as a matter of course, and, by leave 
under subsection (4), the court can allow a party to a case to listen to or view any electronic recording. That will 
not change either. However, it is proposed to change the next two subsections—subsections (5) and (6)—by 
repealing them. For the benefit of members, I am trying to reduce this down to the absolute gist of what we are 
talking about. Subsection (5) states — 
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In respect of criminal proceedings in the Court, where a conviction or order is made, or a charge is 
dismissed, any party interested therein is entitled on request —  

(a) to receive a copy of —  

(i) the prosecution notice containing the charge;  

(ii) the record of proceedings;  

(iii) any statement of the accused’s convictions that is tendered in the 
proceedings; and  

(iv) the conviction or order, from the officer who has custody thereof, subject to 
payment of an amount calculated in such manner as is prescribed by 
regulations; and  

(b) to view any exhibit in the proceedings that is in the possession of an officer of a court 
and that is not reasonably capable of being copied, at a time and place appointed by 
that officer.  

Subsection (6) provides the definition of “record of proceedings”, which I referred to in the last subsection. 
Obviously, if we repeal subsection (5), it seems reasonable in that context to repeal subsection (6). I will talk 
only about subsection (5) from now on, but I will refer to the two because they go together. I will come back to 
those subsections in a minute. 

I will summarise section 33(7) rather than read it all into the record. It essentially gives certain people the 
entitlement, on request, to inspect or obtain a copy of any document that is part of the court’s records and any 
document received by the court in sentencing proceedings. The subsection goes on, in paragraphs (a) to (i), to list 
the entitled people, which include a party to the proceedings, the Commissioner of Police, the Director of Public 
Prosecutions, the Corruption and Crime Commissioner, and so on. That matter is not in debate now. Members 
who are listening to the debate but not actively participating in it need to be aware of that. 

Now we come to subsection (8), which is also proposed to be repealed. It states —  
Subject to this section, the rules of court may provide for unconditional or conditional access to records 
and things held by the Court by parties to cases and by other persons. 

What exists now is a capacity, subject to the remainder of the section, for the rules of court to provide for 
unconditional or conditional access by people, be they a party to a case or other persons. Indeed, the conditions 
for who can access those records and things are contained in the rules of court. It is proposed that that subsection 
be repealed and another be inserted; in other words, it will be replaced. Proposed new subsection (8) in the bill 
states —  

If on an application by a person the Court is satisfied there is a good reason to do so, it may give the 
person leave, either unconditionally or on any conditions the Court imposes, to inspect, obtain a copy 
of, view or listen to, any information held by the Court in relation to any case that has been or is being 
dealt with by it. 

That is a slightly longwinded version of current subsection (8) that has been extended and expanded upon 
slightly. It is accompanied by proposed new subsection (9), which refers to what the rules of court may do in 
prohibiting and regulating access to information and entitling a person to access to or to obtain a copy of any 
such information. The two new subsections (8) and (9) go together. In my mind, quite clearly there is a direct 
relationship between the three-line subsection (8) that is proposed to be repealed and the 12-line subsections (8) 
and (9) that are proposed to be inserted.  

There is a very direct relationship between the two, and in my view the spirit of them is the same or significantly 
the same. The bill also prescribes that subsection (9) will be repealed and it proposes a new subsection (12). 
Upon examination, what we are repealing are the words in existing subsection (9), which read — 

If under this section or the regulations a document may be supplied to a person it may, at the request of 
the person, be supplied in an electronic form. 

We are taking that out and inserting new subsection (12), which reads — 
If under this section, rules of court, or the regulations, a document may be supplied to a person, it may, 
at the request of the person, be supplied in an electronic form. 

There is not a heck of a lot of difference there, so I do not intend spending any time looking at that provision. 
The wording has been slightly rearranged and so has its pecking order as a subsection. Where does that leave us? 
It basically takes us right the way back to the existing section 33(5), which is to be repealed. That is what it all 
boils down to in substantial effect. I think Hon Giz Watson would agree with that in general terms. I will 
therefore now focus my remarks only on section 33(5), because that seems to be the test of whether or not the 
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chamber will approve this part of the bill. Subsection (5) has a bit of a history. I do not have the old act readily to 
hand, but I believe it goes back to section 148 of the old Justices Act 1902. 

Hon Sue Ellery: That is set out on the front page of the document you have. 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: Indeed it is. It was revisited when the committee looked at the Magistrates Court Bill 
in 2003. There is debate on the public record, to which Hon Giz Watson referred, about the comments of 
Hon Peter Foss. At that time an amendment was passed in this place that inserted section 33(5). Section 33(5), 
which the government proposes now to take out, was the subject of some argument then. Indeed, the minister 
was a member of this house then, I was a member of this house then, Hon Peter Foss was a member of this house 
then, although he is no longer, and Hon Giz Watson was a member of this house then and was, I notice from the 
record, involved in that very debate. Section 33(5) is a provision with a history that goes back to whenever it was 
inserted in the provisions of the Justices Act 1902. That might have been from day one or it might have been an 
amendment at some other time, but certainly the house actively considered it on some very recent occasions. It 
considered it via a standing committee, which produced a recommendation that the words of the current 
section 33(5) be inserted into the bill. When the house considered the 2003 bill, the government—the same 
government we have now, God bless it!—and Hon Peter Foss on behalf of the opposition — 

Hon Sue Ellery: God bless him! 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: Indeed. They disagreed on the adoption of that recommendation to insert section 
33(5). We have the record, part of which Hon Giz Watson read out earlier this evening. Hon Peter Foss insisted, 
as he was wont to do, that these words recommended by the committee be put into the principal act that we are 
now proposing to amend by this bill.  

At the time the government was not in favour of that, but it could see the will of the chamber, and the record 
records that, without too much fuss, the amendment was moved, briefly discussed, and passed. This enduring 
provision has been around for some considerable time. I remind the chamber what section 33(5) is all about. It is 
about “any party interested therein”. I highlight those words verbally—namely, any party interested therein, and 
the entitlement of any party interested therein. Section 33(5) is about an entitlement to receive a copy of certain 
documents related to criminal proceedings in a court where the matter is being dealt with and a conviction is 
made, an order is made or a charge is dismissed. Upon payment of an administrative fee, any party interested 
therein can request and receive a whole lot of documents on the file. The argument all boils down to this capacity 
for any party interested therein to obtain free access to all of that information upon request, which is what 
Hon Giz Watson is proposing in her argument, or the argument of the government, which is to expunge this 
provision from the statute. 

Two things then need to be considered. The first is the question of “any party interested therein”. I think that 
definition needs to be revisited, and I propose to do that now. I touched on, as other members have, the question 
of a party to a case. I think all members understand what is meant by the term “a party to a case”. In the course 
of considering this bill, I have also been invited to consider the question of a “party with an interest in the 
proceedings”. I think it would be the government’s view that a party with an interest in the proceedings does not 
just mean anyone with some sort of vicarious — 

Hon Sue Ellery: Curiosity. 

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: — curiosity, or someone who just wants to know what is happening in a juicy case, or 
someone with that sort of interest. An interest, in the sense of “a party with an interest in the proceedings”, 
means someone who has a direct or indirect interest in the outcome. When one thinks about it, that could be a 
whole lot of classes of persons. Maybe it could extend to a family member of the accused. Certainly it could 
extend to a victim of crime. The family of a victim of crime certainly could be a party with an interest in 
proceedings. Perhaps someone with an ongoing interest in the outcome because it may impact on them 
financially, or it may impact on their employment—who knows? A party with an interest in the proceedings does 
not mean just anyone out there in the public who is a stickybeak and wants to know what is happening in the 
case of Smith v Jones, or in a criminal case; Ellery v The Queen, for example.  

Those are not the words used in existing section 33(5). The words used are not “a party to proceedings”; they are 
not “a party with an interest in the proceedings”. The wording in the current provision is “any party interested 
therein”. What does that mean? I think the government wants it to mean a party with an interest. I think Hon Giz 
Watson is arguing that “any party interested therein” might in fact just mean any member of the public. It could 
be someone in the media or someone who wants to access the public record and to know what the court thinks on 
a particular matter. I think I am right; Hon Giz Watson is indicating that that is what she thinks. That is the 
difference; that is what it all boils down to.  

We now need to go to what was in the mind of the chamber back when Hon Peter Foss successfully moved this 
amendment. Looking at the records of debate, it appears to me that what Hon Peter Foss and others who 
supported him, including Hon Giz Watson, had in mind was in fact that the term “any party interested therein” 
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could and did mean a member of the public who simply wanted to know. I am sure about that for the reason that 
the context of the debate is about the widening of access to court records. That is what it says. I have gone 
through at some length existing section 35 of the principal act and I have highlighted all the parts that are not 
going to change. I have also gone through the parts of section 33 that are proposed to be changed, which are 
subsections (8) and (9). I have expressed the view that they are to be replaced with equivalent new subsections 
(8), (9) and (12), which address the same matters. I now find that we are left with one thing in isolation with 
regard to section 33, and that is the repeal of subsections (5) and (6). It does not appear that they will be 
replaced. It appears that the legislation the government proposes will actually dramatically narrow the 
accessibility of information. That is not what this chamber intended several years ago when section 33(5) was 
placed in the principal act. That is not to say that we should not revisit it with a view to taking it out. However, I 
do not know that a compelling reason to do so has been given to the chamber.  

Reference has been made to the Titelius case, which dealt with access to court information relating to a 
restraining order between a couple, one or each of whom was a public figure. The person who obtained the 
information relating to the violence restraining order or some such order was, in fact, not a party to the case. He 
was not a party with an interest in the case; he was simply a party who was interested therein. I actually thought 
what that person did was disgraceful. The person deliberately set out to use someone’s difficult domestic 
circumstances to attack a person in public. Whatever the person’s motive, that is what happened. However, I do 
not think that had anything to do with the act in question or the amendments that are proposed in this bill. The 
Titelius case preceded the proceedings in this house in Hon Peter Foss’s day; in fact, I think, by quite a few 
years. Incidentally, I notice from the excerpt that you were in the chair then, Mr Chairman, so if you are 
experiencing a sense of deja vu, I do not blame you!  

The CHAIRMAN: I have not left the chair; I have been sitting here for four years!  

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: It might seem that way, Mr Chairman, but I have been on my feet for only a little 
while!  

All of what was known of the Titelius case when it occurred was known when this matter was last debated, so 
members will have been cognisant of it. I do not think what I call the Foss amendment, or the committee’s 
amendment, section 33(5), was anything to do with the Titelius case or anything like it. I think it was about 
broadening access to court records by saying that any record of what happened in the court, including the 
prosecution notice containing the charge, the record of proceedings, a statement of the accused’s convictions 
tendered in the proceedings and the conviction or order, or, indeed, the viewing of exhibits, is a matter for public 
record, as Hon Giz Watson argued. I think she argued that four or five years ago, as I think did Hon Peter Foss. 
With all that in mind, it is now up to the government to convince us that section 33(5) is somehow superfluous 
because, in my view, it is not replaced by proposed section 33(8). That deals with the rearrangement of an 
existing provision. The repeal of section 33(5) and (6) would be a radical step and the government needs to 
justify it.  

Before I conclude, which I mercifully will in a second, Mr Chairman, I notice in some supplementary material 
provided to me that there are some ways in which section 33(5) is now out of kilter with some other provisions 
that relate to the reference to paying a fee. There is other capacity for fees to be prescribed, and definitions of 
“record of proceedings” are perhaps unnecessary, as the same area is covered somewhere else. However, they 
are minor drafting matters. If the government needs to tidy up the legislation by making minor amendments to 
address those matters, the opposition will support it without batting an eyelid. However, on the basic principle of 
whether section 33(5) should be repealed, we say that, as we previously supported the insertion of 33(5), we will 
not agree to the repeal of the provisions of 33(5) until the government tells us why it is necessary to do so. I do 
not believe we have revisited that argument. If the minister thinks we have and we have reached a stage whereby 
we will have to agree to disagree, that will be the end of the matter.  

I think I have outlined the opposition’s position. I have taken some time to do it but I am sure a jolly lot less time 
than Hon Peter Foss would have taken.  

The CHAIRMAN: I do not think so!  

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: I want to emulate my icons, Mr Chairman.  

The question that remains before the Chair is that the words proposed to be deleted be deleted. In view of what I 
have said, I do not know now what the government wants to do. It may wish, for example, to put the subclauses 
separately, or it may intend to continue the debate by introducing some new argument that will radically change 
the opposition’s view. 

Hon SUE ELLERY: I thank the honourable member for taking us back, in a very methodical fashion, through 
the circumstances that led to the words that appear in the Magistrates Court Act 2004. I concur entirely with his 
analysis of what the house considered at the time, and how those words came to be. I am not really adding 
anything new to the debate, so if the member was expecting that, I am sorry, but we differ in that the member’s 
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position is that the government, by seeking to repeal sections 33(5) and 33(6) of the Magistrates Court Act—
section 33(6) is consequential on section 33(5)—and the argument around the words “any party interested 
therein”, is seeking to narrow access to records. My argument is that the government is seeking to manage access 
to records. Hon Simon O’Brien and Hon Giz Watson may well argue that the consequence of what I call 
management is that access is narrowed. We will have to agree to disagree on that. Proposed section 33(8) 
reads — 

If on an application by a person the Court is satisfied there is a good reason to do so, it may give the 
person leave, either unconditionally or on any conditions the Court imposes, to inspect, obtain a copy 
of, view or listen to, any information held by the Court in relation to any case that has been or is being 
dealt with by it. 

The key words are “any information held by the Court”. Existing section 33(8) is narrower than that. It reads — 

Subject to this section, the rules of court may provide for unconditional or conditional access to records 
and things held by the Court by parties to cases and by other persons. 

We say that the words “any information held by the Court” are broader than the words that presently appear in 
section 33(8). 

The essential difference between us remains. If the will of the committee is such that it does not want to make 
any changes that would change the way we manage access to information, it will not support the government’s 
proposition. It will stand by the position taken back in the 2003 debate that held that any party interested could 
have access to the records. The government says that that is not reasonable, and needs to be managed. In fact, we 
think it can be managed and that people can have access to records. The decision about ensuring that the court’s 
resources are not being wasted, for example, is one that the court is entitled to make. However, there is no 
question that we are revisiting the argument that was made back in 2003, and we do not resile from that.  

An argument about consistency has also been drawn to my attention. If the government was of the view that it is 
fair and reasonable use of the resources of the court to allow completely unmanaged access to records at any 
time, it would change every other bit. The consistency argument is an important one. We do not apply the level 
of access that the house imposed in 2003 to any of the other component parts of the judiciary system in Western 
Australia. There is an argument about consistency. 

Hon Simon O’Brien: Do you mean in criminal versus civil cases, for example? 

Hon SUE ELLERY: That is right; we do not. The house made a decision that it would treat one part of the 
jurisdiction differently from the way it treated other parts. I cannot recall from the debate at the time whether the 
house considered that point in any detail. However, we are saying that we want to treat one part of the judicial 
system differently from the rest. That is not an insubstantial argument; it is an important argument.  

The substantive point of difference between us, and the question that we need to decide, is: do we agree or not 
agree that the court is entitled to manage the way in which access to information is provided? Whichever way we 
decide that question, that is the way the legislation will continue. I am convinced that I am not able to convince 
Hon Giz Watson. I am not so sure about Hon Simon O’Brien. It is the case that we need to think about the two 
components of that question. Is it reasonable to impose a set of provisions around access to court records and 
materials for only one part of the judiciary? Is it reasonable to say the court is not entitled to manage the way in 
which access to information is provided? That question rests with the house.  

Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: I congratulate the minister! That was a really good try, but we are not falling for it! I 
am sure that will restore the minister’s faith in us! If the minister wants to categorise it as convincing the house, 
we are open to be convinced. The minister might see the Greens as intransigent and us as reasonable and open. If 
so, that is good; the minister has learnt something in the process. However, we cannot let this matter proceed to 
its finality in a moment without addressing the minister’s point that if we disagree with the government’s 
amendment, that means that we are not concerned about whether the court can logistically manage its 
administrative affairs. That is not the case at all. We do not want the court to be overwhelmed by people who 
impose an unreasonable and disruptive administrative burden. That is why long ago the Parliament in its wisdom 
made provision in this very section of the act for fees to be charged to cover any such costs. Those fees are 
capable of being prescribed. That means that the level of fee is entirely in the government’s hands. The remedy 
in terms of administrative burden rests with the government as well. Will there be an administrative burden? 
Clearly there will be an administrative burden. Is it an excessive level of extra burden, or one that the 
government cannot manage? It is not if the government has the power to raise the funds to cover those costs. 
Therefore, it is a bit naughty of the minister to suggest that if we oppose the repeal of this subsection, we are 
demonstrating our flagrant disregard for the administrative burden that will be placed upon the court. Of course 
it does not mean that at all. It means that we are reasserting the need to retain the provisions that are contained in 
the statute book of Western Australia. That is where the matter will remain, until the government can 
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demonstrate why we should change our position. The minister did point out that I am responsive to reasonable 
argument. However, I do not think the government has demonstrated that just yet. The way forward from here —  

The CHAIRMAN: Order! I am also looking for a way forward. I recognise that the committee has an issue with 
clauses 71 and 72. I will be leaving the chair in five minutes, as the standing orders require me to do. I am 
interested to know from the committee whether members wish to speak to any other clauses in the bill. If not, 
then I suggest that prior to five to 10, we deal with the balance of the bill, and that will leave clauses 71 and 72 
outstanding overnight. 
If clause 71(1) is defeated, the consequential ramifications must be taken into account. However, that cannot be 
done in five minutes. I invite the Committee of the Whole to consider that proposition. Do members wish to 
speak to any clause between clauses 73 and 132?  
Hon Simon O’Brien: I wish to speak to clause 109.  
The CHAIRMAN: The minister may wish to defer clauses 71 and 72 until after the consideration of clause 132 
so that we can make some progress, because some cross-table discussions may need to take place overnight.  

Further consideration of the clause postponed until after consideration of clause 132, on motion by 
Hon Sue Ellery (Minister for Child Protection). 

Clause 72 postponed until after consideration of clause 132, on motion by Hon Sue Ellery (Minister for 
Child Protection). 

Clauses 73 to 108 put and passed. 

Clause 109: Schedule 1 amended —  
Hon SIMON O’BRIEN: I will be quick, Mr Chairman, because your proposed way ahead is very good and the 
chamber wants to honour it. Clause 109 amends schedule 1 by inserting new clause 5A, which provides that the 
minister, in terms of the clause’s heading, may discharge certain prisoners from old parole terms. Concern has 
been expressed that the government is going soft on prisoners. Concern has also been expressed about the ability 
for the penalty of imprisonment imposed by a court to be varied—indeed, slashed by up to a third—by a 
ministerial decision. I understand that the reason for this amendment is that a justice in the system—Justice 
French, I think it was—brought this matter to the government’s attention. In effect, what may happen is that a 
person serving a parole term under a former sentencing regime may be recommitted to prison because he 
commits a subsequent offence. If that happens, in effect he has to serve the entirety of his head-term, which may 
be for a very serious offence that attracted a head-term of 10 years, with the subsequent offence being 
jaywalking, for example. I do not mean to be flippant, but I am thinking of a minor matter. The penalty for that 
latest offence can be extraordinarily disproportionately heavy if it means going back to prison for three years for 
something that would normally incur a minor penalty. If that is all that is intended with this provision, the 
opposition will support it. However, I want it on the record that that it is the intent of the government’s proposed 
amendment.  
Hon SUE ELLERY: It is indeed the case that Judge French, who is the chair of the Prisoners Review Board, 
raised the specific concern about the impact of the loss of remission after parole cancellation for prisoners 
sentenced prior to the proclamation of the Sentence Administration Act in August 2003. The honourable member 
gave the example of a person committing a subsequence offence of a far less serious nature than the original 
offence but with that having the effect of ensuring that one-third remission of the sentence is lost and the 
prisoner is not entitled to be released until the whole of the term has been served. In many cases, that result is 
completely out of proportion with the offence that triggered the cancellation. It has significant implications for 
the way that the board is then able to deal with matters because the loss of remission is permanent. Although 
there are many cases when the subsequent offending that results in the cancellation of parole is serious, it does 
not always warrant the additional time, so the description that the honourable member gave is completely 
accurate.  
Clause put and passed. 
Clauses 110 to 132 put and passed. 
Progress reported and leave granted to sit again, pursuant to standing orders. 

ADJOURNMENT OF THE HOUSE 
HON KIM CHANCE (Agricultural — Leader of the House) [9.57 pm]: I move — 

 That the house do now adjourn. 

Assaults on Police Officers — Adjournment Debate 

HON BRIAN ELLIS (Agricultural) [9.57 pm]: I am prompted to speak tonight because of an answer to a 
question I asked of the minister representing the Minister for Police and Emergency Services during question 
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time earlier today. The minister admitted that one-third of the assaults that have occurred on police officers since 
July last year were on country police. If my calculations are correct, the numbers that he gave me equate to the 
assault of two or more police officers per day over that time. This is a terrible state of affairs and a terrible 
reflection on society and the support that police officers obviously expect from the government and also the 
people. When the government procrastinates about the compensation that is available and an appropriate amount 
is not awarded, and when police officers have to pay for their own health and medical expenses, it is little 
wonder that they retire early and that it is hard to find cadets to recruit. The mid-west Gascoyne police inspector 
said that there were 50 departmental vacancies in the mid-west at the end of January.  

Hon Robyn McSweeney: How many?  

Hon BRIAN ELLIS: Fifty. It is little wonder that there are so many vacancies if the government is not backing 
the police force and the law enforcement department.  

I support the legislation that is before the Parliament that seeks to increase penalties for assaults on police 
officers. It is a welcome improvement. I wholeheartedly support the increased penalties and mandatory 
minimum sentences. Many of the assaults on officers occur by drunk and/or drug-affected people who do not 
really think about the legal consequences of their actions. That is why I expect that the greatest help to police 
officers would be more backup; that is, an increase in police numbers, obviously. Police need backup, 
particularly in country areas. In the city they can call for backup teams, but in the bush the nearest police officer 
may be in another town 50 to 100 kilometres away, and by the time a backup officer arrives, the incident is 
probably over and the police officer has been assaulted. An increase in the penalty, no matter how large it might 
be, would not help that police officer. If there is a backup officer, and if he has to leave his patch to attend to his 
fellow police officer, obviously his patch is at risk. It is simply a case of lack of numbers in the country regions. 

I was even more alarmed after contacting local councils in the mid-west and in the wheatbelt following their 
responses about regional police numbers. I received responses from a number of shires. The Shire of 
Northampton has only three police officers, and after 4.00 pm they cannot be contacted as calls are diverted to 
Geraldton. Three Springs was allocated a third police officer only after I raised the matter in Parliament last year. 
In December last year Moora had only one police officer, and even when it had two police officers, they had to 
patrol Brand Highway, which is an 80-minute round trip from the town. Recently, the City of Geraldton-
Greenough called for more police to reduce call response times after the recent tragic death of a man bashed at 
Sunset Beach. Another mid-west shire has contacted me to express concern that government agencies are 
relocating problem families in rural areas without any notice and without any support for the communities, 
thereby placing increased pressure on the local police. Obviously, it is hard to attract police staff to districts such 
as Moora, which are not designated by the police department as accommodation rent-free zones. In other areas 
such as Northampton, newly transferred police officers arrive with extensive outstanding annual leave and are 
required to take holidays, but no replacements are appointed while they are away.  

The situation has been made worse, as I said earlier, by the procrastination on the promised compensation for 
police officers who are forced to retire due to injuries. I am afraid that the Premier has also done his best to pull 
the wool over the eyes of the public by blaming the opposition for parliamentary delays in increasing the 
penalties for these assaults. The government controls the order of business in Parliament, as we all know, and the 
legislation was listed for only three days in September and three days in October. It was never prioritised higher 
than the seventh bill on the list. It was not even on the notice of priority legislation for this year until the media 
exposure and public outrage at the bashing of a police officer in Joondalup, which embarrassed the government 
into bringing it to the top of the list. Therefore, I ask: how many more assaults on country coppers will have to 
take place before the media attention embarrasses Premier Carpenter into increasing police numbers in the bush?  

Education Sector Transparency — Adjournment Debate 

HON PETER COLLIER (North Metropolitan) [10.04 pm]: I am rising tonight to express some concerns at 
an alarming trend in the education sector; that is, a lack of transparency. At a time when the Department of 
Education and Training is facing enormous scrutiny and pressure, complete transparency is absolutely vital to 
return confidence to the sector. I will identify three particular areas of concern. At the beginning of 2007 we got 
a new Minister for Education and Training. He started off with a tremendous amount of enthusiasm and gusto 
and I applauded a lot of the initiatives he introduced. He was particularly good at answering questions without 
notice in question time. However, that situation soon dissipated and by mid June it had almost evaporated. As I 
say, that is of great concern to me. Many attempts on my part to get some response from the minister for some 
very valid education issues were blocked at every opportunity. Although I did not necessarily always agree with 
what his predecessor said, I must give Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich credit for the fact that she always answered 
questions. 

However, from January 2007 on, the Minister for Education and Training asked me to put on notice 17 questions 
that I asked without notice; that is, he deflected the responses. I have to say that, on every occasion, these 



 [COUNCIL - Wednesday, 20 February 2008] 181 

 

questions could have been answered without notice. I will give a couple of examples. I asked whether the 
years K-10 syllabus documents would be mandated. That was a very simple question capable of a yes or no 
answer. The answer was to put it on notice. I asked whether the West Coast Resource Centre would be closed. 
That was an easy question capable of a yes or no answer. The answer was to put it on notice. I asked whether 
there were any problems with the English course of study. That was an easy question capable of a yes or no 
answer. The answer was to put it on notice. On another 13 occasions—13 sitting days—the minister was 
unavailable to answer questions. He was obviously on urgent parliamentary business, but that was essentially 
another four sitting weeks when I was unable to get responses from the Minister for Education and Training.  

That lack of transparency, unfortunately, was starting to impact on the public perception, and certainly 
parliamentary perception, of whether we were receiving full accountability on the operations of the Department 
of Education and Training. I do hope the minister is much more accommodating this parliamentary year in his 
responses to parliamentary questions. 

The second area of concern is the Twomey task force. The Twomey task force was established with great fanfare 
in June 2007. It was intended to identify the areas of need with regard to the teacher shortage. As I said in debate 
on a motion I moved last year on the teacher shortage, we really did not need the Twomey task force. Quite 
frankly, blind Freddy could have told the minister what the problem was with the teaching fraternity, particularly 
in the area of a much-needed salary increase. However, Professor Twomey handed the report to the Minister for 
Education and Training in December 2007—it cost the government $863 000. Two months later, it is now mid 
February, and the report still has not been handed down or made public by the Minister for Education and 
Training. He received a preliminary report in October and has had the final report for two months, and it has not 
been made public despite constant pleas from me as the alternative minister, from the union and from the public 
at large. I have to ask: why is the minister not releasing the Twomey report? A cynic might suggest that he has 
not signed off on the enterprise bargaining agreement with the union, that he is waiting until he signs off on that 
EBA and then he will release the report, because he already knows that the Twomey report will definitely 
recommend a salary increase and a raft of other reforms and he does not want to sign off on an EBA before that 
recommendation comes through. 

What I am saying once again to the Minister for Education and Training is: release that Twomey report and show 
some transparency. The cynicism will then dissipate. At the moment teachers across the state want the EBA 
resolved. As of today they are talking of strike action. We do not want that to occur. We want the EBA resolved. 
If the minister is going to resolve the EBA, I suggest he release the Twomey report first and let us see what the 
report says about the teacher shortage, otherwise it makes folly of the whole process of the report. 

The third factor I want to talk about in regard to the lack of transparency in the education portfolio is yet another 
report on education. We have had so many reports on education in the term of this government that I think the 
education department probably spends more time evaluating itself than it does trying to implement education 
philosophy and policy. We have had the Corruption and Crime Commission reports, last year the Gerard Daniels 
report, parliamentary reports and internal reports. Last year another review was done by Public Sector 
Management Office through the Department of the Premier and Cabinet. This report is titled, “Review of the 
Department of Education and Training”. Part of it reads — 

A review of the Department of Education and Training (DET) was conducted during 2007 in 
accordance with section 10 of the Public Sector Management Act 1994.  

The Review was conducted by Ms Prudence Ford, a former senior State and Commonwealth public 
servant.  

As part of the Review, consultation was undertaken with key stakeholders.  

The Review specifically considered:  

• The appropriateness of DET’s functions and activities relative to Government policies and 
priorities;  

• DET’s financial management performance, including internal resource allocation processes;  

• The impact of the non-government sector's provision of educational services in Western 
Australia upon the Department’s current and future operations;  

• The effectiveness of the organisational structure and reporting arrangements of DET, in 
supporting efficient and effective service delivery;  

• The effectiveness of the current portfolio structure and its impact on collaboration and 
coordination between DET and other agencies within the Education and Training portfolio 
such as the Department of Education Services, the Curriculum Council and the Technical and 
Further Education colleges;  
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• The appropriateness of accountability and governance arrangements between all agencies in 
the portfolio;  

• The adequacy of all planning undertaken within the Department with a focus on data collection 
systems and the quality and value of data collected in existing systems;  

• As a priority within the review, the Department’s procurement planning and decision making 
processes with a focus on capital works items;  

• The development of appropriate performance targets that would assist Government in 
measuring Departmental performance into the future; and  

• Other reports and reviews that have considered organisational matters related to the 
Department.  

What a great report that will be. One would assume that, as that was in 2007, the government, if it has nothing to 
hide—has no problems and complete transparency in the education portfolio—would release that report as a 
public document and say, “See, we’re operating particularly well.” Has it released that report? Of course not. Yet 
again, it shows a lack of transparency on the Department of Education and Training’s part; yet again, it adds to 
the cynicism and negativity that permeates this portfolio, and the government has only itself to blame. 

Yesterday I asked the Premier whether he would table that report. He said no and basically told me to get lost. 
All I can do is once again issue a plea to the government to please release this report and show us what is going 
on within the Department of Education and Training. Obviously it is a very thorough review that will show how 
inefficient is the Department of Education and Training.  

On the off-chance that the government ignores my plea and will not release the report, I turn to the final 
comment in the document to which I referred. It states — 

All submissions made may be subject to a Freedom of Information application under the Freedom of 
Information Act 1992.  

The cynic in me might suggest that that is a course of action I will have to take. I would like to think that I will 
not have to go down the freedom of information path because the government will release the report of the 
review to show more transparency and openness in education. However, as I said, the cynic in me suggests that 
perhaps that will not happen. 

Department for Child Protection — Adjournment Debate 

HON ROBYN McSWEENEY (South West) [10.13 pm]: Today I discovered some disturbing figures in 
relation to child protection; that is, the Department for Child Protection has 1 505 unallocated cases. Each of 
those cases represents a child or a family. I was really hoping that following the disgraceful departmental 
blunders of the past two years that when this department was changed from the Department of Community 
Development to the Department for Child Protection I would not see such disgraceful figures again. Once again, 
here we are.  

The director general of the department, Terry Murphy, has said that some of these cases are near to being closed. 
In February 2007, 541 cases were awaiting investigation. On 12 November 2007, there were only 386 cases 
awaiting investigation. All those cases were awaiting full investigation. Since November, the number has 
increased to 1 505 cases. Someone is fudging the figures somewhere along the line, and I am not very impressed. 
The union has said that at present some 1 800 children and families are at risk. What is going on in the 
Department for Child Protection? In March there was a recruiting campaign, and the minister sat opposite me 
and told me faithfully that the department was going to recruit 300 new workers and that it was trying its hardest 
to do so. Now I have found out that only two-thirds of those workers have been employed and there are more 
than 126 vacancies for child protection workers across the department, including 56 in country offices. That was 
in March. These figures should be a lot better than they are. I could not accept 386 unallocated cases, but it is 
absolutely disgusting to now find out that 1 505 cases have not even been allocated. There is no excuse for that. 
These children are not being provided with services. These children are slipping through the net. I do not believe 
that children’s cases should be closed until they are 18 years of age. I have a particular problem with the 
department closing cases too early. 

The minister has denied the fact that the recruitment campaign has been a failure, but she cannot say that when I 
read out these figures. There were 300 cases in November and, three months later, there are 1 505 cases. Those 
figures do not make a lot of sense. They are rubbery figures. Those rubbery figures equate to children, parents 
and families not being provided with services. Certainly, the situation in both city and country areas is very 
similar. Fifty-six more staff members are required in country areas. The Kimberley was given more staff as a 
result of the sexual abuse allegations in the north. The Murchison office requires 11 more staff, the Peel office, 
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nine and the wheatbelt office, eight. Where are we going to get 126 more staff from for the Department for Child 
Protection? That is the government’s responsibility. I would like these cases to be allocated. At least if the cases 
are given to caseworkers, the children might have a chance of not slipping through the net. The department has a 
new director general, Terry Murphy, and it is for the better. He is a very good director general, but he needs to 
explain these figures to the minister. I hope that I get an answer tomorrow during question time when I ask the 
minister questions about how the number has increased from 386 to 1 505 in three months. 

Question put and passed. 

House adjourned at 10.19 pm 

__________ 
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QUESTIONS ON NOTICE 

Questions and answers are as supplied to Hansard. 

GOVERNMENT DEPARTMENTS AND AGENCIES — FEMALE STAFF, CLASS ONE AND ABOVE 

5648. Hon Helen Morton to the Leader of the House representing the Premier 

(1) Please detail the number of female staff at Class one and above (for each Class please specify) for each 
of the following Departments -  

(a) Department of Treasury and Finance; 

(b) Office of the Auditor General; 

(c) Department of the Attorney General; 

(d) Department of Health; and 

(e) Western Australian Electoral Commission? 

(2) Please detail the percentage of female staff at Class one and above (for each Class please specify) for 
each of the following Departments, -  

(a) Department of Treasury and Finance; 

(b) Office of the Auditor General; 

(c) Department of the Attorney General; 

(d) Department of Health; and 

(e) Western Australian Electoral Commission? 

Hon KIM CHANCE replied: 

Department of the Premier and Cabinet advises: 

(1) The number of female staff at Class One and above (specified for each Class) as at 23 January 2008 are 
as follows: 

(a) The Department of Treasury and Finance has: 

- 2 at class One; and 

- 1 at Class Three. 

(b) The Office of the Auditor General has: 

- 1 at Class One. 

(c) The Department of the Attorney General has: 

- 1 at Class One; and 

- 1 at Group 3 Min. 

(d) The Department of Health has: 

- 2 at Class One. 

(e) The Western Australian Electoral Commission has none. 

(2) The percentage of female staff at Class One and above (specified for each Class) as at 23 January 2008 
are as follows: 

(a) For the Department of Treasury and Finance: 

- 13% of Class One; and 

- 50% of Class Three. 

(b) For the Office of the Auditor General: 

- 50% of Class One. 

(c) For the Department of the Attorney General: 

- 25% of Class One; and 

- 100% of Group 3 Min. 
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(d) For the Department of Health: 

- 40% of Class One. 

(e) For the Western Australian Electoral Commission, 0%. 

Note: The percentage is calculated based on the proportion of total employees at each specified Class 
with female employees.  

PUBLIC SECTOR — RESIGNATIONS 

5715. Hon Paul Llewellyn to the Parliamentary Secretary representing the Minister for the Environment 

In relation to staff resignations from the State’s Public Service, I ask -  

(1) How many State public servants employed in environmental approvals assessment have resigned over 
the past five years at -  

(a) level eight; 

(b) level nine; and 

(c) classes one to four inclusive? 

(2) Of those public servants in (1)  

(a) how many have since had professional dealings with State Government Departments 
responsible for -  

(b) environmental assessments; and  

(c) planning or development proposals? 

(d) which government departments, companies and ex public servants have been involved in these 
dealings; and 

(e) which planning or development proposals have been involved? 

Hon SALLY TALBOT replied: 

(1) (a) Many officers in the Department of Environment and Conservation (DEC) and other agencies 
are involved in or contribute to environmental approvals assessment. However, the 
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Division of DEC is the area where staff are 
specifically employed full-time for that function, and the answer for that area is nil. 

(b) Nil for the EIA Division of DEC. 

(c) Nil for the EIA Division of DEC. 

(2) Not applicable. 

ALCOA’S WAGERUP REFINERY — EXPANSION 

5722. Hon Paul Llewellyn to the Parliamentary Secretary representing the Minister for State Development 

With reference to Alcoa’s expansion at Wagerup, I ask  

(1) Of the conditions the Government has set Alcoa for its expansion at Wagerup  

(a) which conditions have been addressed; 

(b) which conditions have not yet been addressed; 

(c) of those that have been addressed what has been the outcome for each condition; and 

(d) of those that have not yet been addressed, when is it expected that each condition will be met? 

(2) Has approval for works to commence been given? 

(3) If yes to (2),  

(a) to what stage has the expansion progressed; and 

(b) what is the expected time-line for completion of the expansion? 

(4) If no to (3), when is approval expected to be given? 

Hon KATE DOUST replied: 

(1) (a) Of the conditions and procedures for the Alcoa Wagerup alumina refinery expansion proposal 
set out in the Minister for the Environment's Statement 000728, dated 14 September 2006, the 
following have been addressed: 
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- Condition 5-1: audit compliance discussions are ongoing with the Department of 
Environment and Conservation ("DEC"); 

- Procedure 2: an inter-agency working group to address rail noise impacts has been formed 
and its work is underway. 

The State and Alcoa also entered into a Deed of Undertaking, dated 28 March 2007, in relation 
to the expansion proposal. The following undertakings have either been met or are underway: 

- Air quality report for winter 2006  - submitted to the DEC; 

- Community health survey - commenced; 

- Supplementary Property Purchase Program - well advanced. 

(b) I refer you to Statement 000728 for those conditions which are yet to be addressed. 

(c) See answer (1)(a) above. 

(d) The outstanding conditions relate to commencement of the refinery expansion, which has not 
yet occurred.   

(2) No. 

(3) See answer to (2), above. 

(4) Alcoa has not advised the Government of a decision to proceed with the expansion. 

ELECTORATE OFFICERS CONFERENCE 

5726. Hon Ray Halligan to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for Public Sector Management 

I refer to the Electorate Officers Conference held at the Mercure Hotel on Thursday of last week, and I ask -  

(1) Who authorised that it become a recruiting forum for the Community and Public Sector Union? 

(2) When did it become appropriate for a conference, funded by the Department of Premier and Cabinet, to 
develop into a recruiting drive for union members? 

Hon KIM CHANCE replied: 

Department of the Premier and Cabinet advises: 

(1)-(2) The Information Technology Branch of the Department of the Premier and Cabinet arranged for a 
seminar to be held on 29 November 2007 for electorate officers to be made aware of the rollout of the 
new Microsoft Office 2007 environment to all Parliamentary Electorate Offices. 

An attending electorate officer who is also a workplace delegate for the Civil Service 
Association/Community and Public Sector Union, sought and was granted permission to address the 
attendees at the end of the day on the basis that it did not detract or take time away from the principal 
purpose of the day. 

GOVERNMENT DEPARTMENTS AND AGENCIES — STAFFING 

5730. Hon Anthony Fels to the Leader of the House representing the Premier 

For the following Departments,  
(a) Department of Treasury and Finance; 
(b) Office of the Auditor General; 
(c) Department of the Attorney General; 
(d) Department of Health; and 
(e) Western Australian Electoral Commission, 

Please detail -  
(i) the number of female staff at Class 1 and above (for each Class please specify); and 
(ii) the percentage of female staff at Class 1 and above (for each Class please specify)? 

Hon KIM CHANCE replied: 

This question has already been asked by the Hon Helen Morton MLC on 29 November 2007 as Legislative 
Council Parliamentary Question on Notice 5648.  

__________ 

 


